The Role of HSP70/HSP90 Organizing Protein (Hop) in the Heat Shock Factor 1 (HSF1)-mediated Stress Response

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Biochemistry

of

Rhodes University

by

Abantika Chakraborty [ORCID ID:0000-0001-8820-9228]

October 2020

ABSTRACT

Molecular chaperones regulate cellular proteostasis. They control protein conformation and prevent misfolding and aggregation under both normal and stressful environments, ultimately resulting in cell survival. The project aimed to understand the role of the HSP70 - HSP90 Organizing Protein (Hop/STIP1) in the survival of stressed cells and the function of the stress-responsive transcription factor, Heat Shock Factor 1 (HSF1). HSF1 protein levels were significantly reduced in Hop-depleted HEK293T cells compared to controls by ELISA, western blot, and mass spectrometry. HSF1 transcriptional activity at the HSP70 promoter, and binding of a biotinylated HSE oligonucleotide under basal conditions were significantly reduced, consistent with the reduced levels of HSF1. In response to heat shock, HSF1 levels in Hop-depleted cells increased to that of controls, but there was still significantly lowerHSF1 transcriptional activity and HSE binding. Hopdepleted HEK293T cells were more sensitive than controls to the HSF1 inhibitor KRIBB11 and showed reduced short-term and long-term proliferation. Unlike the HSP90 inhibitor 17-DMAG, which had no effect, the HSP70 inhibitor JG98, further decreased the levels of HSF1 in Hop-depleted cells, suggesting a role for HSP70 in the Hop-mediated effects. There was punctate nuclear staining for HSF1 in Hop-depleted cells under both basal and heat shock conditions, as well as reduced nuclear localization and increased cytoplasmic accumulation of HSF1 in response to heat shock. Hop and HSF1 colocalized in cells, and HSF1 could be isolated in complex with Hop and HSP70. Loss of Hop reduced HSF1 in HSP70complexes but did not affect HSF1 abundance in HSP90 complexes. Hopdepleted cells showed reduced short-term and long-term survival compared to controls. an effect that was potentiated by the JG98 HSP70 inhibitor. Taken together, these data suggest that Hop regulation of HSF1activity is via a mechanism involving reductions in HSP70 interaction, as well as reduced nuclear localization, and DNA binding, and is consistent with reduced cellular fitness under basal and stress conditions.

DECLARATION

I declare that this thesis is my own unaided work. It is being submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biochemistry of Rhodes University. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination at any other university.

Abantika Chakreberty

Abantika Chakraborty October 2020 Grahamstown

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 2 |
|----|
| 3 |
| 4 |
| 7 |
| 8 |
| 9 |
| 11 |
| 12 |
| 12 |
| 13 |
| 14 |
| 14 |
| 14 |
| 19 |
| 20 |
| 22 |
| 24 |
| 25 |
| 27 |
| 28 |
| 30 |
| 30 |
| 34 |
| 37 |
| 37 |
| 37 |
| 38 |
| 38 |
| |

| 2.2 | Cell line maintenance and induction of shRNA expression | . 38 |
|-------|--|--------------|
| 2.3 | Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) a western blot analysis | and . 38 |
| 2.4 | Mass Spectrometry Analysis | . 39 |
| 2.5 | Survival and expression analysis in normal and tumor samples | . 40 |
| 2.6 | Heat shock and inhibitor treatment | . 41 |
| 2.7 | Long-term clonogenic survival assay | . 41 |
| 2.8 | Luciferase reporter assay | . 41 |
| 2.9 | Nuclear-cytoplasmic fractionation | . 42 |
| 2.10 | Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy | . 42 |
| 2.11 | Transfection and HA immunoprecipitation | . 43 |
| 2.12 | Endogenous HSP70 immunoprecipitation | . 43 |
| 2.13 | Resazurin cytotoxicity and cell proliferation assay | . 44 |
| 2.14 | Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for HSF1 levels | . 44 |
| 2.15 | Protein-DNA binding assay | . 45 |
| 2.16 | Statistical Analysis | . 46 |
| CHAPT | TER 3:Results: | . 47 |
| 3.1 | Global proteomics indicated that Hop depletion in HEK293T cells resulted HSF1 depletion | d in . 47 |
| 3.2 | Hop and HSF1 levels are correlated in tumors | . 50 |
| 3.3 | Validation of reduction of HSF1 protein levels by western blot analysis | . 51 |
| 3.4 | Basal reductions in HSF1 protein levels upon Hop depletion are reversed response to heat shock | d in . 54 |
| 3.5 | HSF1 subcellular distribution is altered in Hop-depleted cells | . 55 |
| 3.6 | HSF1-DNA binding and transcriptional activity altered in Hop-deple HEK293T cells | eted . 65 |
| 3.7 | Hop-depleted cells are more sensitive to HSF1 inhibition | . 66 |
| 3.8 | Interaction of HSF1 and Hop in cell lines | . 68 |
| 3.9 | Effect of Hop depletion on interaction of HSF1 with HSP70 and HSP90 | . 70 |
| 3.10 | Effect of HSP70 and HSP90 inhibition on HSF1 levels in Hop-depleted cell | s |
| | | . 73 |

| 3.11 | Analysis of the viability of Hop-depleted cells in response to HSP70 and HSP | 90 |
|-------|--|-----|
| | inhibition and heat shock | .77 |
| СНАРТ | ER 4:Discussion | 82 |
| СНАРТ | ER 5:Appendix I | 91 |
| СНАРТ | ER 6:References | 93 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1: HSP70 chaperone cycle16 |
|---|
| Figure 2: HSP90 chaperone cvcle |
| Figure 3: HSF1 cycle in response to stress |
| Figure 4: Correlation between Hop and HSF1 expression in cell lines and tumor samples. |
| |
| Figure 5: Hop depletion reduced HSF1 protein levels in cell lysates |
| Figure 6: Recovery of HSF1 protein levels upon doxycycline removal |
| Figure 7: Quantification of changes in HSF1 levels under basal and heat shock conditions. |
| |
| Figure 8: HSF1 accumulation in the cytoplasm with Hop depletion under heat shock 58 |
| Figure 9: Changes in subcellular localization of HSF1 upon Hop depletion64 |
| Figure 10: HSF1 activity is reduced in Hop-depleted cells67 |
| Figure 11: Interaction of HSF1 and Hop in cell lines69 |
| Figure 12: Hop depletion reduces HSF1 in HSP70 complexes |
| Figure 13: Hop depletion does not affect HSF1 association with the closed conformation |
| of HSP90α72 |
| Figure 14: Effect of HSP90 inhibition on HSF1 upon Hop depletion under basal and heat |
| shock conditions74 |
| Figure 15: Effect of HSP70 inhibition on HSF1 levels in Hop-depleted cells77 |
| Figure 16: Hop depletion reduces cell viability78 |
| Figure 17: Effect of HSP90 inhibition on the survival of Hop-depleted cells |
| Figure 18: Effect of HSP70 inhibition on the survival of Hop-depleted cells |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1: List of selected post-translational modifications in HSF1 and the effect on HSF1 |
|--|
| activity |
| Table 2:Lysis buffers used |
| Table 3: Oligonucleotide sequences used to generate double-stranded DNA probes to |
| detect HSF1 binding45 |
| Table 4: Changes in protein levels in HEK293T cells upon Hop depletion |
| Table 5: Cytotoxicity of KRIBB11 against Hop-expressing or depleted cell lines. 66 |
| Table 6: List of primary antibodies used and their respective dilutions for western blot |
| analysis |
| Table 7: List of secondary antibodies used and their respective dilutions for western blot |
| analysis |
| Table 8: List of primary antibodies used and their respective dilutions for confocal |
| microscopy |
| Table 9: List of secondary antibodies used and their respective dilutions for confocal |
| microscopy |

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| ATP | Adenosine Triphosphate | | | |
|------------|--|--|--|--|
| Aha1 | Activator of Heat Shock Protein 90 | | | |
| ANOVA | Analysis of Variance | | | |
| AR | Androgen Receptor | | | |
| BSA | Bovine Serum Albumin | | | |
| Cdc37 | Cell division cycle 37 | | | |
| Cdc42 | Cell division cycle 42 | | | |
| CHIP | Carboxyl terminus of HSC70-interacting Protein | | | |
| C-terminal | Carboxyl terminal | | | |
| Dox | Doxycycline | | | |
| DMEM | Dulbecco's modified eagle medium | | | |
| DMSO | Dimethyl sulfoxide | | | |
| DNA | Deoxyribonucleic Acid | | | |
| DTSSP | 3,3'-Dithiobis(sulfosuccinimidyl propionate) | | | |
| dsRNA | Double-stranded RNA | | | |
| DTT | Dithiothreitol | | | |
| EDTA | Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid | | | |
| EEVD | Glutamate-glutamate-valine-aspartate motif | | | |
| FBS | Foetal Bovine Serum | | | |
| Fkbp51/52 | FK506 binding protein-51/52 | | | |
| HEK293T | Human Embryonic Kidney 293T cell line | | | |
| Hip | HSC70-interacting protein | | | |
| Нор | HSP70/HSP90 Organizing Protein | | | |
| HRP | Horseradish Peroxidase | | | |
| HSF1 | Heat Shock Factor 1 | | | |
| HSP | Heat Shock Protein | | | |
| NEAA | Non-essential amino acids | | | |
| N-terminal | Amino-terminal | | | |
| PBS | Phosphate Buffered Saline | | | |

| PSA | Penicillin-Streptomycin-Amphotericin |
|----------|--|
| PIC | Phosphate Inhibitory Cocktail |
| Puro | Puromycin |
| RT | Room Temperature |
| SDS | Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate |
| SDS-PAGE | SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis |
| shRNA | Short hairpin RNA |
| TBS | TRIS Buffered Saline |
| TBST | TBS-Tween |
| ТМВ | 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidiene |
| TPR | Tetratricopeptide Repeat |

LIST OF SYMBOLS

| α | Alpha | | | |
|-----|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| β | Beta | | | |
| °C | Degree Centigrade | | | |
| % | Percentage | | | |
| V | Volts | | | |
| xg | Relative Centrifugal Force to Gravity | | | |
| М | Molar | | | |
| mМ | Millimolar | | | |
| μM | Micromolar | | | |
| nM | Nanomolar | | | |
| g | Grams | | | |
| mg | Milligrams | | | |
| μg | Micrograms | | | |
| ng | Nanograms | | | |
| L | Litre | | | |
| mL | Millilitre | | | |
| μg | Micrograms | | | |
| bp | Base pairs | | | |
| kDa | Kilodaltons | | | |
| min | Minutes | | | |
| v/v | Volume/Volume | | | |
| w/v | Weight per Volume | | | |

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Firstly, I would like to acknowledge and thank my supervisor, Dr. Adrienne Edkins, for her innovative ideas, help, and support throughout this project. It would not have been possible to pursue this research project without her knowledge, endeavour, and encouragement.

I would like to thank my colleagues and friends at BioBRU - I much appreciate your help.

My parents and family have been a great support.

Finally, I acknowledge and would like to thank the South African National Research Foundation (NRF, RSA) and Rhodes University for funding.

OUTPUTS

Publications

Chakraborty, A and Edkins, AL (2020). Hop depletion reduces HSF1 levels and activity and coincides with reduced stress resilience. **BBRC**. 527(2):440-446. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.04.072

Conference outputs (Oral Presentations):

National:

Chakraborty, A. and Edkins, A.L. The role of Hop in HSF1-mediated stress response in mammalian cells. **SASBMB-FASBMB Conference, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa (8-11 July 2018).**

International:

Chakraborty, A. and Edkins, A.L. The role of Hop in HSF1-mediated stress response in mammalian cells. IXth International Symposium of the Cell Stress Society International (CSSI) on Heat Shock Proteins in Biology and Medicine, Virginia, USA (10-13 November 2018).

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

The rate of protein synthesis is rapid in living cells, which sometimes leads to misfolding of proteins. Molecular chaperones prevent this aggregation by providing support for correct folding, conformational change, maturation, and degradation of numerous signaling proteins and transcription factors (Lindquist, 1986a; Hartl, 1996). Chaperones are ubiquitous and highly conserved proteins (Csermely *et al.*, 1997). These are essential for cell survival after exposure to environmental stress that causes protein damage. Stressors like heat shock, proteasomal stress, or any entity that causes a sudden change in the cell environment stimulates the synthesis of a variety of chaperones (Blagosklonny, 2001). Hence many molecular chaperones are members of the heat shock protein (HSP) families (Welch & Brown, 1996; Snyder *et al.*, 1998) and include the major chaperones heat shock protein 70 kDa (HSP70) and heat shock protein 90 kDa (HSP90). However, stress can also cause adaptive responses and aging in cells (Labbadia & Morimoto, 2015). Stress regulation occurs at transcriptional, translational, and post-translational levels (Söti& Csermely, 2007).

1.1 Heat Shock Proteins (HSPs)

Many molecular chaperones are members of the Heat Shock Proteins (HSPs) superfamily and are traditionally classified based on their molecular weight. The various families of HSPs include HSPH (HSP100), HSPC (HSP90), HSPA (HSP70), DnaJ (HSP40), HSPD/E (HSP60/10), CCT (TRiC) and HSPB (small Hsps). Two of the major molecular chaperone families are the 70kDa and 90 kDa heat shock proteins, HSP70 and HSP90. Most HSPs are diverse in structure and size, and the majority but not all isoforms are dependent on ATP (Edkins & Boshoff, 2014; Baindur-Hudson *et al.*, 2015)

1.2 Heat Shock Protein 70(HSP70)

There are 13 types of HSP70 isoform in human cells with distribution in almost every subcellular compartment (Kampinga *et al.*, 2009). HSP70 has a wide array of functions, including protein folding, holdase, and re-foldase activity, translocation, aggregation, and

targeted proteasomal degradation (Edkins & Boshoff, 2014). The isoform of the HSP70 family responsible for basal proteostasis is heat shock cognate 70 (HSC70), whereas HSP70 is considered the stress-inducible isoform responsive for HSR or PSR (Young, 2016). During apoptosis, HSP70 inhibits both caspase-dependent and caspase-independent pathways. Overexpression of HSP70 provides resistance against apoptosis inducers like TNF α , staurosporine, doxorubicin. Cancer cells have increased levels of HSP70, which correlate with the risk of malignancy and reduced sensitivity towards therapy (Jäättelä *et al.*, 1998; Jaattela, 1999). HSP70 has significance in pathological conditions, including cancer and neurodegenerative disorders, and hence is a putative drug target (Patury *et al.*, 2009; Evans *et al.*, 2010; Young *et al.*, 2016).

Structurally the N-terminal domain of HSP70 is the ATPase domain or nucleotide-binding domain, which is conserved across the isoforms. The C-terminal domain has a β sandwich structure, and the substrate-binding domain varies in the different isoforms (Edkins & Boshoff, 2014). HSP70 is dependent on several co-chaperones and co-factors for appropriate function, especially HSP40 isoforms that trigger the low basal ATPase activity of HSP70 in addition to ensuring substrate specificity.HSP40 co-chaperones (DnaJ in prokaryotes) have a canonical J domain consisting of four α helices. Between the first and third helix there is a highly conserved HPD motif (Histidine-Proline-Aspartic Acid), which is the catalytic residues required for inducing ATPase activity of HSP70. There are 49 different isoforms that differ structurally and functionally, although the primary function is to act as a co-chaperone of HSP70 and regulate ATP dependent client binding (Sterrenberg *et al.*, 2011; Edkins & Boshoff, 2014). Nucleotide exchange factors(NEFs) like HSP110 and BAG allow the release of the folded client and re-binding of ATP to initiate a new chaperone cycle (Johnson & Craig, 2001; Andreasson *et al.*, 2008) (Figure 1).



Figure 1: HSP70 chaperone cycle

Misfolded client proteins are captured by HSP40 and delivered to HSP70 in an ATP bound form. HSP40 stimulates the ATPase activity of HSP70 to convert HSP70 to an ADP-bound form with increased affinity for substrate and promotes client binding. The replacement of ADP with ATP by nucleotide exchange is catalyzed by BAG isoforms and results in client protein release.

The cytoplasmic eukaryotic HSP70 contains an EEVD motif at the C-terminal end, which is the binding site for tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR) containing co-chaperones such as CHIP, Hop, and Hip (Ballinger et al., 1999; Hohfeld, 1995; Chen & Smith, 1998). During a chaperone cycle, HSP40 stimulates the ATPase activity of HSP70, thereby catalyzing the binding of Hop to HSP70. Hip interacts with the ATPase domain of HSC70 after HSP40 has induced HSP70 to hydrolyze ATP, leading to a stable HSP70-ADP conformation. The ATPase cycle is hindered by the CHIP-HSP70 interaction to ensure reduced protein folding. CHIP also competes with Hop in terms of binding to the C-terminus of both HSC70/HSP70 and HSP90 (Stankiewicz *et al.*, 2010; Edkins & Boshoff, 2014; Baindur-Hudson *et al.*, 2015).

In eukaryotes, the most abundant chaperone is HSP90 comprising about 1-2% of the cytosolic fraction under basal conditions. HSP90βhas an indispensable role in mammalian cells, and *Hsp90ab1* knockout is embryonic lethal in the mouse (Csermely *et al.*, 1998; Voss *et al.*, 2000; Edkins & Boshoff, 2014). Although the two HSP90 isoforms show 86% sequence identity, *Hsp90aa1* knockout mice are viable (Grad *et al.*, 2010). HSP90 also has extracellular and membrane-bound isoforms, in addition to intracellular and organelle ones, namely, mitochondrial HSP90 (TRAP-1/HSP75/HSPC5) and endoplasmic reticulum HSP90 (Grp94/Grp96/HSPC4). HSP90 is influenced by PTM like phosphorylation, acetylation, *s*-nitrolysation. Significant linkage between HSP90 and multiple signaling cascades has led to the design various inhibitors (many derived from or informed by the ATPase inhibitory natural product geldanamycin, which can also inhibit Grp94 and TRAP1 (Lawson *et al.*, 1998; Felts *et al.*, 2000; Soti *et al.*, 2005; Edkins & Boshoff, 2014).

Structurally HSP90 has a dimeric conformation consisting of three conserved domains per monomer, namely N domain (25kDa; amino-terminal), M domain (35kDa; middle domain), and C domain (12kDa; carboxyl-terminal). The N and M domains are linked by a charged linker, which is species and isoform-specific (Jahn et al., 2014). The ATPase activity is triggered by the interaction of the co-chaperone Aha1 at the N and M domain, while the HSP90 C-terminal end has a dimerization domain and terminates in an EEVD motif to bind TPR domain-containing co-chaperones. There is a second nucleotidebinding site that displays preferential binding for GTP/UTP and gets exposed only when the N-terminal domain is ATP bound. Novobiocin, a C-terminal inhibitor binds at a site which overlaps with the dimerization domain (amino acid 538-728) and competes with ATP binding, as well as disrupting co-chaperone interaction (Prodromou et al., 1997; Meyer et al., 2003; Soti et al., 2003; Terasawa et al., 2005). HSP90 has over 300 clients that depend on it for proper folding and functionality, with steroid receptors being one of the classical HSP90 clients. HSP90 also has roles in pathological conditions like Alzheimer's disease, and cancer (Luo et al., 2010; Salminen et al., 2011; Drecoll et al., 2014; Edkins & Boshoff, 2014; Baindur-Hudson et al., 2015; Jaeger & Whitesell,

2019).The mitochondrial HSP90 or TRAP1 (TNF associated receptor protein 1) has six isoforms, exists as a dimer, with ATPase activity induced by heat shock. TRAP1 is inhibited by geldanamycin but has more affinity for ATP than cytosolicHSP90 and lacks the EEVD motif for TPR containing co-chaperone binding. The N-terminal domain of TRAP1 has a mitochondrial targeting sequence (Neckers *et al.*, 2007; Leskovar *et al.*, 2008).Grp94 also exits as a dimer, is inhibited by geldanamycin, and has a conserved C-terminal end with the KDEL motif required for retention of proteins within the ER. The N-terminal region has an ER signal peptide (Munro & Pelham, 1987; Marzec *et al.*, 2012; Edkins & Boshoff, 2014).



Figure 2: HSP90 chaperone cycle

Misfolded client proteins captured by the HSP70-HSP40 chaperone complex are transferred to the open HSP90 client via Hop and Cdc37. HSP90 binds ATP and undergoes N-terminal dimerization and transfer of the client protein. HSP90 undergoes further conformational changes, trapping the client protein and acquiring co-chaperones, including PPI and p23. Client release is promoted by ATP hydrolysis, which is stimulated by the co-chaperone AHA1.

The chaperoning of clients by HSP90 is due to a series of conformational changes. HSP90 is constitutively dimerized via the C-terminal dimerization domain, and when inactive, the N-terminal domains are separate, ATP is not bound, and HSP90 has an "open" conformation. Association of client proteins, some co-chaperones, and ATP binding leads to the closure of the clamp at the N-terminal domain leading to HSP90 being in a "closed" conformation. ATP hydrolysis results in reversion to the open state and release of the client. This HSP90 cycle is under the regulation of numerous co-chaperones which alter enzymatic activity, HSP90 conformation, or client binding (Li *et al.*, 2012a)(Figure2).

1.3 Chaperone-assisted protein folding by theHSP70-HSP90 complex

The HSP70 and HSP90 chaperones co-operate during chaperone-mediated folding (Figure 1 and 2). The folding process by this network is best understood for the steroid hormone receptor (SHR) clients. During the initial steps, HSP70, along with a cochaperone isoform, HSP40, binds the client protein to form the early complex. Then in the presence of the adaptor co-chaperone HSP70-HSP90 organizing protein (Hop, also known as Sti1, STIP1, or p60), this complex is transferred from HSP70 to HSP90. A single molecule of Hopcan sufficiently stabilize the open conformation of HSP90. At the same time, the other TPR-acceptor arm of HSP90 binds to a PPlase (FKBP51 or FKBP52 members of PPIase family), forming an asymmetric intermediate complex (Pirkl & Buchner, 2001; Riggs et al., 2007). The TPR-containing PPlase regulates the interconversion of the *cis-trans* isomerization of peptide bonds at proline residues (Pirkl & Buchner, 2001; Kramer et al., 2004). The association of ATP with the complex converts the open conformation of HSP90 to the closed conformation, while the co-chaperone p23binds and promotes stability of the closed state of HSP90 (Johnson et al., 1998). This does not favour the binding of Hop, thus stimulating it to dissociate from the complex. In the later stages, other PPIases may associate with the HSP90 and p23 complex. The hydrolysis of ATP, stimulated by Aha1, causes the release of p23 along with the client protein from HSP90 (Young & Hartl, 2000). In the case of newly synthesized kinases, after interaction with HSP70 and HSP40, the protein kinases are transferred to HSP90 by

the presence of Hop and the kinase-specific co-chaperone Cdc37, both of which contribute towards stabilization of the HSP90/kinase complex. Hop exits from the complex in the presence of protein phosphatase PP5 and the ATPase activator Aha1. In the later stages, Aha1 releases Cdc37 along with nucleotides from HSP90 (Li *et al.*, 2012a; Xu *et al.*, 2012).

1.4 HSP70-HSP90 organizing protein (Hop)

The HSP70/HSP90 organizing protein (Hop) or stress-inducible phosphoprotein 1 (STIP1) is a co-chaperone that binds to and interacts with the molecular chaperones, HSP70 and HSP90 (Wegele et al., 2004; Onuoha et al., 2008; Röhl et al., 2015; Karam et al., 2017). Hop functions as an adaptor protein whereby it facilitates the folding and transfer of client proteins between the molecular chaperones HSP70 and HSP90 (Chen & Smith, 1998; Wegele et al., 2004; Baindur-Hudson et al., 2015). Originally Hop was thought to be required for HSP90 and HSP70 interactions in eukaryotes. It has now been shown in yeast that HSP90 (HSP82) and HSP70 (Ssa1) interact directly, independent of the Hop homolog (Sti1), via a region of middle domain of yeast HSP90 (Kravats et al., 2018). The folding of luciferase by HSP70 was stimulated in the presence of Hop and further enhanced when HSP90 was introduced (Johnson et al., 1998). Hop is also able to modulate several signal transduction pathways, including those which can lead to cancer (Walsh et al., 2009, 2011). Prion protein, PrPc, can also bind to Hop (Lopes et al., 2005). Hop serves as a receptor or ligand to regulate signaling pathways through interactions with both chaperones and PrPc, and Hop has been shown to have ATPase activity (Yamamoto et al., 2014). Hop is essential in the mouse and has a pivotal role to play for the proper development of embryos (Beraldo et al., 2013).

Hop is a universal co-chaperone protein, first identified in yeast (Onuoha *et al.*, 2008; Johnson & Brown, 2009; Röhl *et al.*, 2015; Karam *et al.*, 2017). Hop is also present in the genomes of model organisms used in genetic studies like nematode, fruit fly, zebrafish, mouse and even in Coelacanth (*Latimeria* sp), a living fossil (Woods *et al.*, 2005; Song *et al.*, 2009; Amemiya *et al.*, 2013). Hop is a phylogenetically conserved protein, but its

structural and functional variations are species-specific, for example, the *Caenorhabditis elegans* Hop lacks TPR1 and consequently only has 56% similarity with human Hop (Chang *et al.*, 1997).

Even though Hop is mostly cytoplasmic, it has been detected in the nucleus, Golgi complex, extracellular matrix (ECM), and cell membrane (Honore *et al.*, 1992; Longshaw *et al.*, 2004; Hajj *et al.*, 2013). Dogma suggests that these forms of Hop derive from different localization of the same isoform. The mammalian Hop contains a bipartite nuclear localization signal (NLS) that regulates the transportation of the molecule to the nucleus when the cell is in a stressed condition (Longshaw *et al.*, 2004). The movement of Hop from the cytoplasm to the nucleus occurs at the G1/S phase of the cell cycle by phosphorylation of Hop by casein kinase II. Hop was restricted to the cytoplasm if phosphorylation happened by cell division cycle 2 (cdc2) kinase (Longshaw *et al.*, 2004; Daniel *et al.*, 2008). In an astrocyte cell line study, PIAS (protein inhibitor of activated STAT1) had a role in retaining Hop in the nucleus (Soares *et al.*, 2013).

Structurally, Hop contains repeating units of two domains (Scheufler *et al.*, 2000; Odunuga *et al.*, 2004; Onuoha *et al.*, 2008). The first is the TPR domain. There are 3 TPR domains (TPR1, TPR2A, and TPR2B) in Hop, each containing three TPR motifs. This domain comprises tandem repeats of anti-parallel alpha-helices, making an amphipathic groove, the site of protein-protein interaction with HSP70 and HSP90 (Kenneth Allan & Ratajczak, 2011). Hop can differentiate between HSP70 and HSP90 C-terminal EEVD motifs due to the presence of specific TPR residues. The residues of TPR1 and TPR2A facilitate domain-specific binding to HSP70 and HSP90, respectively, via the C-terminal motifs of the chaperones (GPTIEEVD for HSP70 and MEEVD for HSP90) (Odunuga *et al.*, 2003). In mammals, phosphorylation of serine and threonine residues near the C-terminal EEVD motifs of the HSP70 or HSP90 regulates Hop binding (Carrigan *et al.*, 2004; Odunuga *et al.*, 2004; Muller *et al.*, 2012) and controls Hop-mediated protein folding. The length between the C-terminal dimerization domain of HSP90 and the MEEVD motif determines the rate of binding of Hop-HSP90 (Lee *et al.*, 2012; Schmid *et al.*, 2012).

The second type of domain in Hop is the DP domain. These are alpha-helical structures, rich in aspartate and proline amino acids. There are two DP domains in Hop. DP1 is located between TPR1 and TPR2A, while DP2 is in between the C terminal and TPR2B of Hop. Although their role remains mostly elusive, DP2 mutants showed reduced binding to HSP70 and were essential for protein activation in an *in vivo* system (Muller *et al.*, 2012; Schmid *et al.*, 2012). The TPR1-DP1-TPR2AB-DP2 modular structure is conserved for humans, mouse, and yeast, but variations are seen in *Drosophila* (DP1 domain absent) and C. *elegans* (absence of TPR1 domain and the linker region with DP1 domain preceding the TPR2A domain) (Carrigan *et al.*, 2005; Baindur-Hudson *et al.*, 2015)

1.5 Role of Hop in Cancer

Hop is a factor involved in the entry of a diverse range of client proteins to the HSP90 complex. Client proteins may be kinases, transcription factors, steroid receptors or signaling intermediates that have a critical role in aberrant pathways in the context of disease, like cancer (Muller et al., 2012a; Schmid et al., 2012). HSPs have a significant role in pathological states, as their levels rise in cancer, promoting tumorigenesis, while the levels drop, causing protein aggregation in the case of Alzheimer's disease (Santagata et al., 2011; Calderwood & Gong, 2012). Hop is overexpressed in several human cancers, such as hepatocellular, pancreatic, colon, ovarian, and thyroid cancer (Walsh et al., 2011). Using proteomic analysis, increased levels of Hop were found in a highly invasive human pancreatic cancer cell line compared to a less invasive cell line from the same individual (Walsh et al., 2009). Hop expression in cell lines is induced through promoter activation by loss of p53 function and Ras gain of function mutations, which makes it part of the cancer gene signature. In Hs578T, HEK293T, SV40transformed MEF1 cell lines showing expression of mutant or loss of p53, an increase in the Hop promoter activity was observed, while when wild type p53 was expressed, there was a reduction in the Hop promoter activity (Mattison et al., 2016). Recent studies done in HEK293T, MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines report downregulation of emerin, a nuclear structural protein, upon Hop depletion or overexpression due to proteasomal or lysosomal degradation. Immunoprecipitation results validated that emerin and Hop were

in a shared complex with HSP70 but not HSP90, and overexpression of emerin could rescue the altered nuclear morphology seen with Hop depletion (Kituyi & Edkins, 2018).

Additionally, knockdown of Hop (using siRNA) in the highly invasive human pancreatic cell line resulted in a decrease in cell invasion and proliferation (Walsh *et al.*, 2011). Hop knockdown (using siRNA) in endothelial HUVEC cells showed a reduction in cell migration. Hop co-localized with microtubules, interacted with tubulin, and was involved in regulating tube formation and angiogenesis (Li *et al.*, 2012b). Silencing Hop in epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) cells led to an inhibition of cell proliferation and invasion (Cho *et al.*, 2014). Decreasing the levels of Hop in MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T breast cancer cell lines (using a siRNA Hop knockdown system) led to a decrease in cell migration. Hop was enriched predominantly in the pseudopodia of Hs578T cells, where Hop co-localized with actin, a cytoskeletal protein. Knockdown of Hop in these cells resulted in a reduction in pseudopodia formation, reduced cell migration and loss of RhoC (Willmer *et al.*, 2013).

Hop has some seemingly chaperone independent functions. For example, the Hop-PrPc complex contributes to stimulate many cellular functions like neural development, memory, and cognition, in addition to preventing apoptosis in nerves (Zanata *et al.*, 2002; Coltinho *et al.*, 2007). A study using *PrPc* null mice has revealed the role of Hop on neural stem cells, which includes proliferation, differentiation, and response to ischemic stress. Other functions, like retinal proliferation, is a PrPc independent function of Hop (Zanata *et al.*, 2002). Extracellular Hop can act as a cytokine to transduce some signaling cascades, including SMAD, ERK, and PKA pathway (Baindur-Hudson et al., 2015; Chao et al., 2013). In a proteomic assay, Hop was identified as a granzyme-B substrate that can be cleaved in *in vitro* conditions making the cells undergo granzyme-B-induced apoptosis. Murine embryonic fibroblasts isolated from *Hop* null embryos showed increased levels of caspase3, leading to cell death and a lower proliferative potential of the cells(Beraldo *et al.*, 2013).

23

1.6 Heat shock factor 1 (HSF1)

The expression of most HSP, some co-chaperones (including Hop), and a range of other cellular proteins are regulated at the level of transcription by Heat Shock Factors (HSF) (Hartl et al., 2011; Ruckova et al., 2012). HSF1 is the best characterized of the HSF isoform family. This includes HSF2 (which is involved mainly in development and has tumor suppressor activity), HSF4 (a constitutively active protein required for eye development), HSF5 and HSF3 (identified only in the mouse). HSFX and HSFY have only been partially characterized (Anckar & Sistonen, 2007a, 2011; Åkerfelt et al., 2010a, 2010b; Dai & Sampson, 2016). HSF1 is most closely associated with the response to cellular stress, and regulation of expression of molecular chaperones required to support proteostasis (Kline & Morimoto, 1997; Shi et al., 1998; Anckar & Sistonen, 2011; Dai & Sampson, 2016; Solís et al., 2016; Su et al., 2016). HSF1 also regulates the expression of proteins related to autophagy, ribosome biogenesis, and chromatin remodeling (Kovács et al., 2019). HSF1 binds as either a homotrimer or heterotrimer along with HSF2, to the extended sequence in the major groove of the DNA helix referred to as heat shock elements (HSE). HSEs are comprised of inverted repeats of the sequence GAAn, and at least three repeats are preferred for HSF1 binding (Amin et al., 1988; Xiao & Lis, 1988; Anckar & Sistonen, 2011). Mice lacking the hsf1 gene failed to express elevated levels of HSPs when exposed to thermal shock and also had a reduced survival (Xiao et al., 1999). In addition, hsf1-/- murine fibroblasts did not show stress-induced transcription of HSP genes and succumbed to heat-induced apoptosis, suggesting a crucial role for HSF1 to combat stress in mammals. Cells with a disrupted HSF2 gene were still able to trigger a distinct heat shock response resulting in a different expression pattern which indicates that HSF2 may be a modulator of some HSP promoters (McMillan et al., 1998; Östling et al., 2007)

1.7 HSF1 in Cancer

HSF1 aids malignant cells to proliferate by promoting mitosis, anabolism, invasion, and metastasis by blocking apoptotic pathways (Dudeja et al., 2011; Santagata et al., 2014). This pro-survival activity is ribosome dependent and under strict regulation of translational processes (Santagata et al., 2014). This is also validated from the findings of the LINCS database, with animal models showing that the ribosome-HSF1 interaction is a putative target to disable the cytoprotective action of HSF1 in malignant cells (Santagata et al., 2014). Immunohistochemistry studies conducted in patients with breast cancer revealed the highest expression of nuclear-activated HSF1 in invasive breast cancer and in in situ analysis. Kaplan-Meier analysis indicated a lower survival in breast cancer patients with elevated HSF1 mRNA levels, which contributes to more extensive tumor formation. Increased HSF1 mRNA levels were correlated with high-grade ER (Estrogen Receptor) positive breast cancer cells (Santagata et al., 2011). In experiments using hsf1 null mice, skin cancer induced by carcinogen treatments was suppressed, suggesting a role of hsf1 in tumor formation. In vitro cell culture studies showed that HSF1-driven malignancy changed cell signaling pathways for glucose uptake, and protein synthesis, and that these modulations result in cancer cell survival by altered metabolic processes (Whitesell et al., 2007). Suppression of the proteotoxic stress response was seen in cells when they were treated with the anti-diabetic drug metformin, which is also a metabolic stressor. Metformin inactivated HSF1 via AMPK, which phosphorylated HSF1 at Ser121. This inactivation of HSF1 resulted in the downregulation of two classical stress response genes, HSP72 and HSP25, both at the transcriptional and protein level under heat shock. These data link the metabolic stress sensor AMPK to proteotoxic stress-induced by HSF1 (Dai et al., 2015). mTOR, a proteotoxic stress sensor, shares a reciprocal relationship with HSF1 where suppression of mTOR is followed by an elevation of HSF1 levels, which in turn suppresses JNK to stabilize mTOR integrity (Chou et al., 2012; Su et al., 2016). The link between JNK and mTOR is altered in the Proteotoxic Stress Response (PSR) whereby mTOR and RAPTOR are phosphorylated by JNK at Ser863 and Ser567, respectively, resulting in decay of mTOR and blocking of translation. Hence the molecular cross-talk between HSF1, JNK, and mTOR regulate stress resistance and determine

25

growth rates in cells and organs (Su *et al.*, 2016). In *Nf-/-*(neurofibromatosis type I) MEFs, the HSR was triggered by elevated HSF1, supported by a dysregulated MAPK pathway, resulting in PSR tolerance. In animal model studies using *hsf1-/-*mice, blockage of the RAS/MAPK signal cascade blocked Nf1 associated oncogenesis, while in *Nf-/-* human malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors (MPNSTs) cells, overexpression of active phosphorylated nuclear HSF1 was seen. This suggests that although Nf1 helps in cell survival, eventually, it is also responsible for the death of the organism due to oncogenesis (Dai *et al.*, 2012).

Experiments conducted in Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts (CAFs) identified active HSF1. HSF1 aids in the survival of malignant cells, but the transcriptional machinery is different in the surrounding cells compared to CAFs. It has been observed that HSF1 is increased in fibroblasts in co-culture with cancer cells, which results in the survival of malignant cells via a mechanism involving the TGF β and SDF1 signaling pathway. Bioinformatics showed that the SDF1 promoter possesses HSE for direct HSF1 binding in stromal cells, and there exists a correlation between high levels of HSF1 with poor survival of lung and breast cancer patients even from an early stage of detection (Scherz-Shouval et al., 2014). In CAF cells, the HSF1 effector molecule, Dickkopf-3 (DKK3), was identified as a promoter of tumor survival both in vitro and in vivo, as well as contributing to increased aggressiveness in breast, ovarian and colorectal cancer. Also in CAFs, there is an established link between HSF1, the Wnt pathway, and YAP/TAZ signaling that results in tumor survival (Ferrari et al., 2019). In Hela and COS-1 cells treated with the anti-cancer chemical, sulforaphane (SFN), HSP27 was upregulated, along with the induction of proteasomal activity and HSF1 activation. SFN was able to induce the heat shock response (HSR), but the phosphorylation of HSP27 was independent of SFN induced proteasomal activity (Gan et al., 2010). Studies involving the highly malignant BPLER cell line and lesser malignant HMLER cells showed the presence of active, phosphorylated HSF1 at Ser326. CHIP-Seq experiments in the same cell lines were done at 37°C and 42°C and showed distinct genome occupancy by HSF1 in heat shock versus cancer conditions. The genome occupancy by HSF1 was more or less conserved across a broad

range of carcinomas (Mendillo *et al.*, 2012) and suggests that HSF1 supports a cancer phenotype through its transcriptome.

1.8 Structure of HSF1

The HSF family has a domain structure that is mostly conserved across isoforms and is linked closely to HSF function. The N-terminal DNA-binding domain (DBD) is highly conserved and composed of a looped helix-turn-helix. The loop stabilizes the DNA-bound HSF trimer by protein-protein interactions (Vuister *et al.*, 1994; Anckar & Sistonen, 2011). Residues in the DBD form disulfide bonds between the adjacent HSF1 monomers to stabilize the HSF1trimer (Lu *et al.*, 2009), and mutation of any of these residues inhibits HSF1 DNA-binding ability, hindering the heat shock response (Ahn & Thiele, 2003).

Inactive HSF1 is a monomer that undergoes trimerization upon activation. Trimerization of HSF1 increases the affinity for the HSE by several-fold and is regulated by the α -helix rich oligomerization domain, located next to DBD (Perisic *et al.*, 1989). This oligomerization domain has two subdomains, each having an amphiphilic helix with hydrophobic heptad repeats HR-A and HR-B (Peteranderl & Nelson, 1992; Peteranderl *et al.*, 1999). In the HSF trimer, both HR-A and HR-B make intermolecular hydrophobic interactions resulting in the formation of triple-stranded coil-coiled interactions. An additional hydrophobic heptad repeat, HR-C, located between the regulatory and the *trans*-activation domains (TADs), folds back and suppresses the trimerization of HSF1 through the interaction with the HR-A/B. Additionally, the linker region connecting the DBD to the HR-A/B also modulates the process of trimerization (Rabindran *et al.*, 1993). Liu & Thiele, 1999)

The C-terminal part of HSF1, which stimulates the transcriptional activation of target genes, is composed of 150 amino acids containing two TADs, TAD1, and TAD2 (Newton *et al.*, 1996). The α -helical hydrophobic amino acid-rich TAD1 is located between residues 401-420 and interacts with TAF-9 (TATA box binding protein [TBP]-associated factor), whereas TAD2 is non-helical in structure and rich in hydrophobic amino acids and proline residues, and is localized between amino acids 431-529 (Newton *et al.*, 1996). Both TAD1

and TAD2 can regulate transcriptional elongation and initiation, but the TAD1 domain precisely controls transcriptional initiation (Newton *et al.*, 1996). Elongation is regulated by hydrophobic residues that stimulate the entry of BRG1, which is the subunit of the chromatin remodeler SWI/SNF (switch/sucrose non-fermentable) complex responsible for heat-induced chromatin remodeling of HSP genes (Sullivan *et al.*, 2001; Corey *et al.*, 2003).In a stress-free environment, the regulatory domain (RD) between the HR-A/B and HR-C domains restrains the HSF1 TAD(Green *et al.*, 1995). The RD also has a negative regulation over TAD and blocks HSF1 activation when there is no protein damage (Green *et al.*, 1995). The HSF1 RD can sense heat stress and confers heat inducibility when fused with TAD of the herpes simplex virus protein VP16 (Newton *et al.*, 1996).

1.9 HSF1 and the stress response

Stress acts as a triggering factor for the transcription of molecular chaperones, which ultimately supports the refolding of denatured proteins or the degradation of proteins damaged beyond repair via proteasomal or lysosomal degradation. HSF1 is the main transcription factor that regulates HSP expression in response to stress. Most cell types and tissues express HSF1 constitutively. In mammalian cells, heat shock stress increases RNA II promoter-proximal pausing that leads to transcriptional repression of thousands of genes(Mahat et al., 2016). Often considered the 'master regulator of the stress response,' recent studies show that HSF1 instead controls the expression of a restricted number of predominantly chaperone genes during stress, and other transcription factors including serum response factor (SRF) in mammalian cells and Msn2/4 in yeast are important for the rest of the response (Mahat et al., 2016; Solís et al., 2016). Upon stress, the extent of condensation and phase transition of HSF1 acts as a determinant of cell survival or death where it not only acts as a driving force for chaperone transcription but localizes in nucleus as stress foci (Lindquist, 1986b; Vihervaara & Sistonen, 2014). Using techniques like multiplexed tissue imaging, HSF1 foci have also been located in tumors although these are inversely proportional to the level of chaperone expression. Data from live cell imaging and single cell microscopy experiments show a link between dissolution and formation of HSF1 foci which aids in cell survival. Chronic stress exposure resulted

in insoluble gel-like HSF1 followed by decreased chaperone transcription ultimately culminating into apoptotic cells. As such, HSF1 foci can act as a sensory switch to turn on cytoprotection in an irreversible manner (Gaglia *et al.*, 2020). In mammalian cells, the ability of HSF1 to induce expression of these genes was related to a release of RNA pol II from promotor proximal pause (Mahat *et al.*, 2016).

Under non-stressed conditions, HSF1 is mostly in an inert monomeric state, bound to chaperone complexes containing at least HSP70, HSP40, HSP90, and members of the TRiC/CCT chaperonins (Shi et al., 1998; Zou et al., 1998; Mosser & Morimoto, 2004; Kijima et al., 2018). HSF1 is distributed diffusely in the nucleus due to the presence of a strong nuclear localization (NLS) signal (Vujanac et al., 2005), although HSF1 can also shuttle between nucleoplasm and cytoplasm. Upon introduction of stress, HSF1 is quickly converted from the monomer to a transcriptionally active, trimeric form with competence for DNA-binding activity and nuclear accumulation, with an increase in trans-activating capacity and phosphorylation (Biamonti, 2004; Anckar & Sistonen, 2007a, 2007b). Upon exposure to thermal stress, the movement of HSF1 to the cytoplasm is inhibited, and it accumulates in the nucleus (Vujanac et al., 2005). Nuclear localization of HSF1 is critical for cell survival under stress, as forced export led to cell death due to global protein aggregation (Solís et al., 2016). In human cells, the accumulation of the activated trimeric HSF1 occurs in particular sub-nuclear structure called nuclear stress bodies (nSBs) (Biamonti, 2004). HSF1 transcriptional programs and regulation are distinct in developmental, tumorigenic, and heat shock response pathways (Calderwood & Gong, 2012; Mendillo et al., 2012; Li et al., 2016). In vitro studies of the activation of HSF1 suggest that the protein has an inherent ability to sense proteotoxic stress and purified HSF1 protein can be trimerized in presence of a range of stress-inducing conditions, including heat shock, increased calcium concentration, hydrogen peroxide and low pH (Mosser et al., 1990; Farkas et al., 1998; Zhong et al., 1998; Ahn & Thiele, 2003; Xie et al., 2003).

1.10 Regulation of HSF1 function

The HSF1 activation cycle involves a concerted series of stages, including oligomerization, nuclear accumulation, and DNA binding, which subsequently lead to transcriptional activation (Figure 3). This response must be carefully regulated, and hence there is a process of attenuation and HSF1 degradation, which follows heat shock (Wu, 1995; Kline & Morimoto, 1997; Guo *et al.*, 2001). There are two main mechanisms by which HSF1 is regulated, namely through post-translational modifications (PTLM) and regulation by selected HSP and chaperones. The other factors that contribute to HSF1 regulation are protein degradation and trafficking (Boyault *et al.*, 2007; Raychaudhuri *et al.*, 2014), co-activator/suppressor of transcription and alternate isoforms of Heat Shock Factor (e.g. HSF2) (Whitesell & Lindquist, 2009), normal cellular transcriptional machinery (Calderwood., S. K., Neckers., 2016), and rearrangement of chromatin (Fritah *et al.*, 2009; Neckers *et al.*, 2018).

1.11 Regulation of HSF1 function by post-translational modification

Regulation of HSF1 by PTLM in general, and phosphorylation in particular, has long been considered critical for HSF1 activity and/or expression levels. As the field has developed, it is now understood that the PTLM of HSF1 by phosphorylation, ubiquitination, acetylation, and SUMOylation fine-tunes HSF1 function, and links the transcription factor to cellular signaling pathways, particularly those regulated by kinases. PTLMs regulate numerous aspects of HSF1 function, including activation, repression, expression levels, localization, and protein-protein interactions (Table 1). The heptad repeats (HR)-A/B and regulatory domain (RD) are extensively regulated by phosphorylation, acetylation and binding of SUMO (small ubiquitin-like modifier), which is phosphate-dependent and mediated predominantly by kinases (Chu *et al.*, 1996, 1998; Knauf *et al.*, 1996; Kline & Morimoto, 1997; Xia *et al.*, 1998; Guettouche *et al.*, 2005; Wang *et al.*, 2006; Anckar & Sistonen, 2011; Dai & Sampson, 2016).



Figure 3: HSF1 cycle in response to stress

HSF1 is held in an inactive monomeric state in the cytoplasm by molecular chaperones. Stress induces protein misfolding, which titrates chaperones away and releases HSF1. HSF1 undergoes nuclear translocation, trimerization, and posttranslational modifications becoming competent to bind DNA and promote transcription of mainly chaperone genes. As chaperone levels increase, isoforms like HSP70 and HSP90 associate with HSF1 to remove it from the DNA and promote attenuation and recycling to the inactive form, and/or turnover via the proteasome.

The acetylation of HSF1 is linked to the stability and activity of the protein. HSF1 is acetylated at Lys80, Lys208, and Lys298 by the histone acetylase p300 and deacetylated by the protein sirtuin (SIRT1) (Raychaudhuri *et al.*, 2014; Zelin & Freeman, 2015). Acetylation at Lys80 blocks HSF1 interaction with DNA and therefore blocks transcriptional activity. The acetylation of Lys208 and Lys298 increases the stability of the HSF1 protein and prevents proteasomal degradation (Raychaudhuri *et al.*, 2014). The regulation of acetylation by p300 is linked to HSF1 levels under basal conditions and during recovery from heat stress. Interestingly, changes in the levels of acetylases and deacetylases are considered a contributing factor to changes in HSF1 levels during aging (Morley & Morimoto, 2004; Zelin *et al.*, 2012).

The major site for SUMOylation of HSF1 is at Lys298 in the RD, although this is dependent on phosphorylation of the adjacent Ser303 (Table 1). The SUMOylation of Lys298 was induced by stress, but not required for transcriptional activation of HSF1. Instead, this PTLM appears to be involved in the deactivation of HSF1 during the attenuation phase after the stress response (Hietakangas et al., 2006; Anckar & Sistonen, 2007; Anckar & Sistonen, 2011).

A total of 73 of the 153 Ser/Thr residues in HSF1 can be phosphorylated (Zheng et al., 2016), and hyperphosphorylation of HSF1 is induced by heat shock. Some of the phosphorylated HSF1 residues, the kinases responsible, and the effect on HSF1 function are summarized in Table 1. For example, phosphorylation associated with deactivation of HSF1 includes Ser121 (which is related to metabolic stress sensors), Ser303, Ser307, and Ser363 (Kline & Morimoto, 1997; Wang et al., 2003, 2006; Dai et al., 2018). Phosphorylation of HSF1 at Ser230 by CaMKII (calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II), Ser320 by PKA (protein kinase A), Thr142 by CKII (casein kinase II), Ser410 by PLKII (polo-like kinase II) and Ser326 by mTOR and RAS/MAPK, activate HSF1 and are associated with stress-induced HSF1 activity (Holmberg et al., 2001; Soncin et al., 2003; Guettouche et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2011; Chou et al., 2012; Tang et al., 2015; Dai & Sampson, 2016). The correlation between HSF1 hyperphosphorylation and transcriptional activity meant that for many years, phosphorylation was considered essential for transcriptional activity and a marker for active HSF1. However, mutational studies have demonstrated that blocking phosphorylation does not inhibit HSF1 transcriptional activation, although differential phosphorylation has been linked with cellto-cell variation in responses and leads to variation in HSP90 levels (Zheng et al., 2018). Consequently, phosphorylation is now considered a mechanism by which to modulate or fine-tune HSF1 activity, rather than an absolute requirement for activity. Also, phosphorylation is a mechanism by which to prolong HSF1 activity during heat stress (Zheng et al., 2016).

32

| Mode | Position | Domain | Agent | Function | Reference |
|-----------------|-------------------|-----------|--|--|--|
| Phosphorylation | Ser307 | RD | ERK1/2 | Basal constitutive suppression | (Wang <i>et al</i> ., 2003) |
| Phosphorylation | Ser326 | RD | RAS/MAPK, MEK, p38, mTOR | Activator of HSR under HS | (Guettouche <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Chou <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Dayalan Naidu <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Tang <i>et al.,</i> 2015) |
| Phosphorylation | Ser121 | DBD | AMPK | Inhibition of nuclear shuttling and stabilization | (Dai <i>et al.</i> , 2015) |
| Phosphorylation | Ser303 | RD | GSK3 | Negative regulator of HSF1, aids in nuclear export of HSF1 and inhibitor of transactivation due to SUMOylation | (Hietakangas <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Wang <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Huang <i>et al.</i> , 2018) |
| Phosphorylation | Ser363 | RD | JNK/SAPK | Inhibitor of HSF1 activation | (Dai <i>et al</i> ., 2000; Su <i>et al</i> ., 2017) |
| Phosphorylation | Ser419 Ser216 | TAD RD | PLK PLK | Activator for the nuclear shuttling in HS Blocks of HSF1 degradation by CDC20 in mitosis | (Kim <i>et al.</i> , 2005, 2009) |
| Phosphorylation | Ser320 | RD | РКА | Aids nuclear localization and activation | (Li <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Murshid <i>et al.</i> , 2010) |
| Phosphorylation | Thr142 | HR-A/B | CK2 | In HS, DNA binding and HSP transcriptional response | (Soncin <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Trembley <i>et al.</i> , 2009) |
| Phosphorylation | Thr 120 | DBD | PIM2 | Promoter of tumorigenesis, proteostasis and breast tumor survival | (Yang <i>et al.</i> , 2019) |
| SUMOylation | Lys298 (major) | RD | Ubc9 Phosphorylation at S303 required | Negative regulation of HSF1 transactivation | (Hietakangas <i>et al.</i> , 2003, 2006) |
| Acetylation | Lys80 | DBD | P300, GCN5 (acetylation) SIRT1, HDAC7, HDAC9 (deacetylation) | Deacetylase activity to maintain HSF1 in a DNA- bound state | (Westerheide <i>et al.</i> , 2009) |
| Acetylation | Lys208 | DBD | P300 | Acetylation stabilizes HSF1 protein by blocking proteasomal degradation | (Raychaudhuri <i>et al.</i> , 2014) |

Table 1: List of selected post-translational modifications in HSF1 and the effect on HSF1 activity

1.12 Regulation of HSF1 by molecular chaperones

In non-stressed environments, HSF1 monomers are held in a folded but inactive conformation due to interactions with the HSP90, HSP70, HSP40, and the TRiC/CCT chaperonin complex (Shi *et al.*, 1998; Hu & Mivechi, 2003; Neef *et al.*, 2014). The long-standing dogma is that chaperones are subsequently liberated from HSF1 due to an increase in protein misfolding when the cells are exposed to proteotoxic or heat shock. This is referred to as the chaperone titration mechanism of HSF1 regulation (Voellmy & Boellmann, 2007; Zheng *et al.*, 2016).

Most studies have focused on the role of HSP90 and HSP70 in the regulation of HSF1 function. Dogma suggested that HSP90 was responsible for maintaining the inactive state of HSF1 (Zou et al., 1998; Guo et al., 2001; Boyault et al., 2007) When HSP90 was pharmacologically inhibited, HSF1 was converted to the trimeric conformation with spontaneous DNA-binding activity (Ali et al., 1998; Bharadwaj et al., 1999). Although monomeric HSF1 binds to HSP90, the RD of the HSF1 trimer forms a complex with HSP90-FKBP52-p23 in cells exposed to heat shock (Ali et al., 1998; Bharadwaj et al., 1999; Guo et al., 2001). If this complex is disturbed, there is a delay in HSF1 DNA-binding activity, suggesting an essential role of HSP90 complex for inhibition of the trimeric HSF1 (Ali et al., 1998; Bharadwaj et al., 1999). More recent studies suggest that the HSP90-HSF1 interaction is transient, and strong binding is only observed between HSF1 and the closed conformation (which is not readily observed in cells). These interaction studies were done with ATP dependent "closed" conformational mutants of HSP90, HSP90aE47A, and HSP90BE42A, and showed robust co-precipitation along with fulllength HSF1. The stress-responsive HSP90α isoform had a higher affinity for HSF1, and overexpression of HSP90α downregulated HSF1 expression, establishing the concept of a negative feedback loop to repress the HSR (Kijima et al., 2018). Flag-tagged HSF1 truncations and internal deletion mutants along with HSP90αE47A and HSP90βE42A were used to map the HSP70 and HSP90 binding sites and revealed strong binding with the "closed" HSP90 at the HR-A/B trimerization domain (part of the RD). The C-terminal half of HR-A/B (amino acids 183-214) could bind HSP90, and the interaction was

increased in HSF1 HR-C and TAD deletion mutants. Treatment with the HSP90 inhibitor 17-AAG led to increased transcriptional activity of an Hsp70 promoter-reporter above basal levels, and heat shock without 17-AAG, suggesting that HSP90 inhibition increases or activates the HSR. HSF1-ChIP data showed that a combination of HSP90 inhibition and heat shock resulted in a significant fold enrichment of HSF1 bound to the HSP70 promoter compared to only heat shock. Upon treatment with N-terminal inhibitors, HSF1 was seen to dissociate even from the closed conformational mutants of HSP90. N-terminal inhibition also increased HSF1 transcriptional activity culminating in an increase of HSP70 mRNA and prolonged the time span of HSP70 mRNA synthesis by HSF1 post heat shock. The authors interpret these data to suggest that HSP90 is involved in attenuation of the HSR in an ATP dependent manner, and that this is inhibited by N-terminal inhibitors (Kijima *et al.*, 2018).

HSP70 and HSF1 work through a negative feedback loop to ensure the coordinated function of HSF1 according to the environment or the expression of target genes (Zheng et al., 2016, 2018; Krakowiak et al., 2018). The transcription of molecular chaperones slows down post-stress exposure, and during this recovery phase, levels return to basal conditions. During this attenuation cycle, HSF1 also reverts from its active phosphorylated trimers to the inactive monomeric conformation, and this event co-occurs with upregulated levels of chaperones, particularly HSP70 (Abravaya, Klara, Myers MP, Murphy SP & Biology, 1992). It has been reported that HSP70 and the co-chaperone, Hdj1 (DNAJB1), interact directly with the transactivation domain (TAD) of HSF1, which results in the suppression of the HSF1 transcriptional machinery. Repression of the transcriptional potential of the GAL4-HSF1 activation domain fusion protein and endogenous HSF1 occurred when either HSP70 or Hdj1 were overexpressed in cells, although neither the inducible phosphorylation nor the DNA binding capacity of HSF1 was affected. Thus, while attenuation proceeds, there is suppression of the transcription of HSP genes, which takes place due to the interaction of HSP70 and the TAD domain of HSF1, validating this as an autoregulatory loop of the HSR (Shi et al., 1998). Endogenous HSP70 interaction with the isolated RD and other domains of HSF1 has been observed, along with weak binding to the isolated HR-A/B domain of HSF1 (Kijima et al., 2018;

Peffer et al., 2019). This interaction with HSF1 is thought to occur via the HSP70 substrate-binding domain (Masser et al., 2019; Peffer et al., 2019) and involve HSP70 recognition sequences in the N and C termini of HSF1 (Krakowiak et al., 2018; Peffer et al., 2019). Mutation of these motifs abrogated the interaction with HSP70 and activated HSF1 transcriptional activity, suggesting that the HSP70-HSF1 interaction inactivates HSF1 (Krakowiak et al., 2018; Peffer et al., 2019). Indeed, deactivation of HSF1 after stress required transcriptional induction of HSP70 (Krakowiak et al., 2018). The HSF1-HSP70 interaction occurred under basal conditions and was dissociated and reassociated during and after heat shock, suggesting that HSP70 serves as an "ON/OFF" switch for the HSR. Overexpression of HSF1 impeded growth in yeast; however, the phenotype was rescued by elevated levels of HSP70 and HSP40. Recent reports suggest that HSP70 may also regulate the ability of HSF1 to bind DNA. HSP70-HSF1 complexes can be classified as active complexes when HSE DNA binding is possible, or latent complexes unable to bind DNA. Increasing HSP70 levels increased the proportion of latent complexes, which would then reduce DNA binding by HSF1 (Masser et al., 2019). Taken together, these data suggest that HSP70 may have an important role in both constitutive as well as stress induced HSR via regulation of HSF1, although the mechanism and its implications are not fully understood in humans (Zheng et al., 2016, 2018; Krakowiak et al., 2018). In addition, the role of many co-chaperones in the regulation of HSF1 has not been studied.
1.13 Motivation for the current study

Hop is an important cellular protein that regulates the characteristics of cancer cells. In particular, Hop levels are increased in cancers compared to healthy cells, and loss of Hop reverses malignant characteristics. Therefore, Hop is considered a possible drug target for cancer therapy, and therefore it is crucial to understand its biological functions fully. The Hop promoter contains HSE sequences and is regulated by HSF1 in response to stress. We identified changes in the level of HSF1 in a global proteomics analysis of Hop-depleted cells, suggesting that Hop may be a regulator of the stress-responsive transcription factor HSF1. The HSP70 and HSP90 chaperones, both of which interact with Hop, have been shown to regulate HSF1 function. However, a role for Hop in these processes has not been studied in detail. Herein, we study the possible relationship between Hop and HSF1 levels and activation to determine if this can be linked to stress resilience in Hop-depleted cell lines.

1.14 Hypothesis

Hop regulates HSF1 activity to influence the survival of cells under stress.

1.15Aims

1. Analyze the effect of Hop depletion on HSF1 levels, activity and cell survival under basal and heat shock conditions.

2. Determine whether Hop regulation of HSF1 involves HSP70 or HSP90 chaperones.

CHAPTER 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Plasmids used

The pGL3-Hsp70pro-Luc plasmid, which contains the HSP70 stress-inducible promoter regulating luciferase expression, was a kind gift from Stuart Calderwood (Olst *et al.*, 2012). The pLV-eGFP plasmid encoding GFP for mammalian expression was a gift from Pantelis Tsoulfas (Addgene#36083). The HA-HSP90αE47A plasmid was a kind gift from Len Neckers (NIH) (Kijima *et al.*, 2018). The pcDNA3-HA-Hop plasmid was designed in house and synthesized by Genscript (Mattison *et al.*, 2016).

2.2 Cell line maintenance and induction of shRNA expression

HEK293T cells (a gift from Sharon Prince, University of Cape Town) were stably transfected with TRIPZ plasmids encoding doxycycline-inducible shRNA against Hop (referred to henceforth as HEK-shHOP or KD) or a control, non-targeting shRNA (referred to as HEK-shNT or NT). HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells were grown in DMEM with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin, streptomycin and amphotericin (PSA), 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids (NEAA), 500 μ g/ml G418, and 2 μ g/ml puromycin under 9% CO₂ at 37°C. The induction of expression of Hop-specific and control shRNA was done for specified periods by daily addition of 1 μ g/ml doxycycline to the complete growth media. Assays were conducted with and without doxycycline treatment in both the HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells.

2.3 Sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and western blot analysis

Cell lysates were made in one of four lysis buffers (Table 1) containing protease inhibitor cocktail, PIC (Sigma-Aldrich,USA), and protein concentration was quantified using absorbance at 280 nm on a Nanodrop spectrophotometer. The proteins in the lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE following the standard modifications of the protocol of

Laemmli (1970), and the expression levels of various proteins were determined by western blot analysis according to the established methods (Towbin and Gordon, 1979). For SDS-PAGE, a 4% (v/v) stacking gel and 10% (v/v) resolving gel was used. The membranes were blocked with 1% (w/v) BLOTTO in 1XTBS (50mM Tris pH 7.5, 0.15M NaCl) for 1hr at room temperature, and incubated with primary antibody at 4°C overnight with primary antibodies Histone, tubulin, and HRP-Conjugated GAPDH antibodies were used as loading controls. The membranes were washed five times for 5-7 mins each wash with TBS-T [0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) in 1XTBS] and incubated at room temperature with species-specific HRP-conjugated secondary antibody in 1XTBS-BLOTTO. The membranes were washed using TBS-T and visualized using Clarity luminescence substrate with the ChemiDocXRS+ system (Bio-rad).

| Table | 2:Lysis | buffers | used |
|-------|---------|---------|------|
|-------|---------|---------|------|

| Lysis Buffer | Composition |
|--------------|--|
| RIPA | 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 0.15 M NaCl, 1% (v/v) NP40, 0.1% (w/v) SDS, |
| | 0.5%(w/v) deoxycholic acid. |
| NP40 | 1% (v/v) NP40 in 1XPBS |
| SDS | 1% (w/v) SDS in 50mMTris-HCl pH8.0, 10mMEDTA |
| CelLytic | Commercial product from Sigma Aldrich [C29780] |

2.4 Mass Spectrometry Analysis

Biognosys, Switzerland conducted the SWATH mass spectrometry. Samples were shipped frozen in Biognosys' proprietary cell lysis buffer containing 8 M urea and 0.1 M ammonium bicarbonate. A total of 50 µg protein per sample was reduced using 5 mM Tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine (TCEP), alkylated using 10 mM iodoacetamide, and digested overnight with sequencing grade modified trypsin (Promega) at a protein:protease ratio of 50:1. C18 cleanup for mass spectrometry was carried out using MICROSpin columns (The Nest Group) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Peptides were dried down to complete dryness using a SpeedVac system and

redissolved in LC solvent A [1% (v/v) acetonitrile in water with 0.1% formic acid (FA)] containing Biognosys' iRT-peptide mix for retention time calibration. Peptides (calculated amount 1 μ g per sample) were injected to an in-house packed C18 column (Magic AQ, 3 μ m particle size, 200 Å pore size, Michrom; 75 μ m inner diameter, New Objective) on a Thermo Scientific Easy nLC nano-liquid chromatography system for all mass spectrometric analysis. LC solvents were A: 1% (v/v) acetonitrile in water with 0.1% (v/v) FA; B: 3% (v/v) water in acetonitrile with 0.1% (v/v) FA.

The LC gradient for shotgun analysis was 0-72% (v/v) solvent B in 120 mins (non-linear) followed by 72-100% B in 2 mins and 100% B for 8 mins (total gradient length was 130 mins). The column length was 30 cm. LC-MS/MS shotgun runs for peptide discovery were carried out on a Thermo Scientific Q Exactive mass spectrometer equipped with a standard nano-electrospray source. Full MS covered the *m/z* range of 400-1200 with a resolution of 70'000 (AGC target value was 1e⁶) and was followed by 12 data-dependent MS2 scans with a resolution of 17'500 (AGC target value was 5e⁵). MS2 acquisition precursor isolation width was 2 *m/z*, while normalized collision energy was centered at 25 (10% stepped collision energy), and the default charge state was 2+. In HRM-MSTM mode, full MS covered the *m/z* range of 400-1220, and all-ion fragmentation (AIF) scan range was 200-1800 m/z.

LC-MS/MS datasets were analyzed using the MaxQuant software package v 1.3.0.5, and searches were performed against the UniProt HUMAN database. HRM-MSTM maps were analyzed with SpectronautTM software using the library generated from MaxQuant searches of shotgun runs. The applied false discovery rate cutoff was 0.01. A total of 1061 protein groups with a p-value of pairwise comparisons \leq 0.05 were identified, and the networks of these analyzed.

2.5 Survival and expression analysis in normal and tumor samples

Publically available data on survival and expression levels of HSF1 and Hop in normal and cancer patient samples from The Cancer Genome Atlas Network (TCGA;

<u>http://cancergenome.nih.gov/</u>) and Genotype-Tissue Expression project (GTex;https://gtexportal.org/home/) (GTex Consortium, 2013) were analyzed using the Gene Expression Portal Interactive Analysis (GEPIA) portal (<u>http://gepia.cancer-pku.cn/</u>) (Tang *et al.*, 2017).

2.6 Heat shock and inhibitor treatment

Heat shock was performed at 42°C for 1 hr without recovery, unless otherwise indicated. The Hsp90 inhibitor 17-Dimethylaminoethylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin (17-DMAG) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was used at a concentration of 1 μ M, and untreated cells served as a control. The HSF1 inhibitor KRIBB11 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and the HSP70 inhibitor JG98 (a gift from Dr.Jason Gestwicki, UCSF, USA) were used at a concentration of 5 μ M, and DMSO treatment served as a control.

2.7 Long-term clonogenic survival assay

HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells remained untreated or were treated with doxycycline for 72 hrs before seeding. Cells were seeded at 1000 cells/ml with/without doxycycline in a 6-well plate, allowed to sit overnight and treated with heat shock or inhibitor treatment, and allowed to grow for 8-12 days with the addition of fresh complete media every third day. When colonies reached approximately 50 cells, they were fixed using a mixture of 3:1 methanol:acetic acid for 2 mins and washed with 1ml of PBS. The colonies were stained using 0.5% (w/v) crystal violet in methanol, washed in distilled water, and air-dried. Images of wells were captured, and then crystal violet dye solubilized in equal volumes of 1% (v/v) acetic acid and absorbance read at 595nm.Results were normalized to untreated, basal HEK-shNT sample. Images are representative of biological triplicate experiments.

2.8 Luciferase reporter assay

HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells (either untreated or treated with doxycycline to induce shRNA for 72 hrs) were seeded at a density of 1X10⁵ cells/ml and transfected with pGL3-

Hsp70pro-Luc plasmid and pLV-eGFP plasmid (as transfection efficiency control) in a ratio of 1:1 (μ g DNA to μ l reagent) with X-tremeGENEHP transfection reagent (Roche). The transfection mixture was kept at 22°C for 15-20 mins before addition to the cells. Total transfection time was 48 hrs. Cells were heat-shocked for 1 hr, followed by a recovery time of 8 hrs and then lysed with 10% (v/v) Triton-X 100. Luciferase activity was quantified after addition of FLAR buffer (20mM Tricine pH 7.4, 100 μ M EDTA, 2.67mMMgSO₄,17mM DTT, 250 μ MATP, 250 μ M D-luciferin) (Olst *et al.*, 2012). The fluorescence due to EGFP was detected at an excitation of 485 nm and emission at 525 nm. The reporter activity was determined as the ratio of the luminescence to the EGFP signal for the corresponding treatment.

2.9 Nuclear-cytoplasmic fractionation

HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells remained untreated or were treated with doxycycline for 96 hrs to induce shRNA expression. Nuclear-cytoplasmic fractionation was done with the NE-PER kit as per the manufacturer's instructions (Thermo Fischer Scientific) and the levels of proteins in fractions determined by SDS-PAGE and western blot analysis.

2.10 Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy

HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells remained untreated or were treated with doxycycline for 72 hrs to induce expression of the relevant shRNA and then seeded in complete growth media on glass coverslips coated with 0.1 mg/ml poly-L-lysine (Sigma Aldrich, USA). Cells were permeabilized with 0.1% (v/v) PBS-T for 15 mins at RT and blocked with 1% (w/v) BSA-PBS-T for 1 hr at RT. Primary anti-HSF1 antibody, anti-Hop, and antipSer326:HSF1 were added at a dilution of 1:100 at 4°C overnight, and the coverslips washed for 5 mins three times in 0.1%(w/v) BSA/TBS-T. Secondary species-specific antibody, anti-rabbit, and anti-mouse was diluted in 0.1%(w/v) BSA/TBS-T in a ratio of 1:500, followed by incubation at RT in thedark for 1hr. All the primary antibodies were validated for specificity by the supplier or in the literature in terms of specificity. Experiments validating the low non-specificity of secondary antibodies were routinely conducted in the laboratory (data not shown). Coverslips were washed three times for 5 mins each with 0.1%(w/v) BSA/TBS-T. Finally, a wash was done with sterile water containing 1 µg/ml Hoechst 33342 in order to stain the nucleus. DAKO was used as the mounting medium. Samples were analyzed using the Zeiss LSM780 Confocal Microscope, and quantification was done using Image J. Colocalization analysis was performed using the ICA plugin (Manders, Stap, Brakenhoff, Driel, & Aten, 1992; Li et al., 2004).

2.11 Transfection and HA immunoprecipitation

Transient transfection was performed in HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells (with or without prior doxycycline treatment for 72 hrs) with 1 μg of HA-HSP90AαE47A plasmid with1 μl of XtremeGeneHP transfection reagent (Roche) (1:1 ratio) in 100 μl of OptiMEM in accordance to the manufacturer's instructions. Untransfected cells served as a negative control. Co-immunoprecipitation was done using the Anti-HA Co-IP kit (Sigma-Aldrich) following the manufacturer's instructions, and isolated complexes analyzed by SDS-PAGE and western blot analysis. The whole-cell lysate was used for input. Primary antibodies were used to probe for overnight at 4°C, and species-specific secondary antibodies were used at RT for 1 hr.

2.12 Endogenous HSP70 immunoprecipitation (IP)

HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP (untreated or treated with doxycycline for 72 hrs) were seeded at 80% confluency in 10 cm dishes, washed twice with PBS at RT and incubated for 5 mins at RT with 10ml PBS containing the cross-linker 2mM DTSSP (Sigma-Aldrich,USA). The DTSSP cross-linker was quenched with the addition of 10 mM glycine, and the cells washed once with PBS. Cells were harvested and lysed on ice using RIPA buffer (Table 1) with 1% (v/v) PIC for 15 mins followed by centrifugation at 16000*xg* for 10 mins, and protein concentration was determined using absorbance at 280 nm on the Nanodrop2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). A total of 800 μ g of protein was used for IP. Lysates were incubated at 4°C overnight with 5 μ g of HSP70/HSC70 antibody

(W27, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, SCBSC-24) and then 20 μ l Agarose-IgA/G beads were added (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, SC-2003). Beads alone were used as a negative control. IP samples were collected by centrifugation at 16000*xg* at 4°C for 2 mins and washed four times with PBS. The washed samples were eluted in SDS-PAGE sample buffer containing β -mercaptoethanol, boiled for 5 mins at 95°C and analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by western blot.

2.13 Resazurin cytotoxicity and cell proliferation assay

HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells treated for 72hrs with 1µg/ml and without doxycycline were seeded at a density of 1×10^5 cells/ml in 96 well plates. For cytotoxicity, cells were treated with a range of doubling dilutions of KRIBB11, starting from the concentration of 200µM for 72 hrs. For proliferation assay, cells were incubated at 37°C for 72 hrs. In both cases, after the 72-hr incubation, 0.54 mM resazurin solution was added and incubated for 4 hrs. The plate was read at an excitation of 560 nm and an emission of 590 nm. The half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) was calculated by non-linear regression using GraphPad Prism 4.0.

2.14 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for HSF1 levels

A total of 1 mg of whole cell lysate in 100 ul PBS or known amounts of purified human HSF1 (Abcam, ab204184) were coated on to wells of a high-binding 96-well plate (Greiner Bio-one, 655001) overnight at 4°C. Wells were blocked with 200µl of 3% (w/v) BSA in PBS for 1 hr at room temperature. Primary anti-HSF1 antibody (Abcam, ab2923) was used at 1:2500 dilution in 1% (w/v) BSA-PBS for overnight, washed 3X in PBS and species-specific HRP-conjugated secondary antibody in 1% (w/v) BSA-PBS used at 1:10,000 for 2 hrs at room temperature, followed by three washes. For HRP detection, HRP Buffer [25.7 mM Citric Acid, pH 5.0, 48.6mM Na₂HPO₄, 1 mg/ml TMB in DMSO, 0.001%(v/v) H₂O₂] was added, and the reaction stopped with the addition of 1 M H₂SO₄, and absorbance read at 450 nm. The concentration of HSF1 per mg of lysate was determined from the standard curve.

2.15 Protein-DNA binding assay

A microtitre based assay to measure HSF1 DNA binding was modified from published protocols to detect DNA-protein interactions (Underwood *et al.*, 2013). Cell lysates were prepared from untreated or doxycycline-treated HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells under basal or heat shock conditions (42° C for 1 hr). A total of 500 µg of whole cell lysate in PBS per well was incubated at 4° C in a 96-well high binding plate overnight, followed by blocking in 3% (w/v) BSA-PBS for 1 hr at room temperature. A stock concentration of 10 mM biotin-labelled or unlabeled competitor oligonucleotides containing an HSE target sequence (Yoon *et al.*, 2011)(Table 3) were annealed in acetate buffer (1 M potassium acetate, 300 mM HEPES, pH 7.5) by heating to 94°C and cooling at a rate of 1°C/minute according to the manufacturer's instructions (IDT).

| Name | Sequence | Label |
|-----------------------|---|-----------|
| HSE oligonucleotide F | GATCT <u>AGAA</u> CGTTCT <u>AGAA</u> CGTTCT <u>AGAA</u> CGT | 5'-biotin |
| | ТСТА | |
| HSE oligonucleotide R | CTAGA <u>TCTT</u> GCAAGA <u>TCTT</u> GCAAGA <u>TCTT</u> GCA | 5'-biotin |
| | AGAT | |
| HSE competitor F | GATCT <u>AGAA</u> CGTTCT <u>AGAA</u> CGTTCT <u>AGAA</u> CGT | None |
| | ТСТА | |
| HSE competitor R | CTAGA <u>TCTT</u> GCAAGA <u>TCTT</u> GCAAGA <u>TCTT</u> GCA | None |
| | AGAT | |

Table 3: Oligonucleotide sequences used to generate double-stranded DNAprobes to detect HSF1 binding

The annealed double-stranded oligonucleotides (10 nM) with or without unlabeled competitor (100 nM) were added to the wells containing the cell lysates and incubated in Kingston buffer [24mM HEPES, pH7.9, 120mMKCI, 4mMMgCl₂, 0.24mM EDTA, 0.6mMPMSF, 0.6mMDTT, 24% (v/v) glycerol] (Baler *et al.*, 1993) at RT with shaking for 2 hrs followed by 2 washes in PBS. Streptavidin-HRP (Thermo Scientific) was incubated

at 1:1000 in PBS at room temperature for 2 hrs, followed by two washes in PBS. The HRP activity was developed using HRP buffer and read at 450 nm.

2.16 Statistical Analysis

All data shown are representative of at least 3 independent experiments unless otherwise stated. Statistical analysis was performed by either t-test or ANOVA in GraphPad Prism 4.0, and values below 0.05 were taken as significant.

CHAPTER 3: Results:

3.1 Global proteomics indicated that Hop depletion in HEK293Tcellsresulted in HSF1 depletion

To study the effect of Hop depletion on cell biology, we conducted a global proteomics analysis by SWATH-MS to identify the levels of cellular proteins in triplicate HEK293T whole cell lysates expressing either control or Hop-specific shRNA. Those proteins showing significant differences in levels between Hop-depleted and control lysates were analyzed using Cytoscape. A total of 1061 proteins were significantly different between the two groups ($p \le 0.05$). Hop (STIP1 in Table 1, log₂FC of -2.548, p-value 0.0000) was the most significantly downregulated protein, which suggested successful depletion in shHOP-expressing cells compared to control cells expressing shNT. Of the significantly deregulated proteins, our analysis identified changes in the levels of the stressresponsive transcription factor, HSF1, as well as several of its reported target genes (Table 2). In HEK293Tcells expressing shRNA against Hop, HSF1 was significantly downregulated (log₂FC of -0.414, p-value 0.0484), while putative HSF1 target genes were both downregulated (Table 2, blue) and upregulated (Table 2, red). These data suggested that Hop and HSF1 expression might be linked.

| UNIPROT | P VALUE | LOG ₂ FC HOP KD vs. NT | FULL NAME |
|-------------|---------|-----------------------------------|--|
| STIP1_HUMAN | 0.0000 | -2.548 | Stress-induced-phosphoprotein 1 |
| AGAL_HUMAN | 0.0000 | -1.125 | Alpha-galactosidase A |
| E41L1_HUMAN | 0.0236 | -0.832 | Band 4.1-like protein 1 |
| A4_HUMAN | 0.0000 | -0.831 | Amyloid-beta precursor protein |
| APOO_HUMAN | 0.0062 | -0.602 | Apolipoprotein O/MICOS complex subunit MIC26 |
| PCKGM_HUMAN | 0.0023 | -0.583 | Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase [GTP], mitochondrial |
| HMOX1_HUMAN | 0.0000 | -0.545 | Heme oxygenase 1 |
| VATG1_HUMAN | 0.0021 | -0.483 | V-type proton ATPase subunit G 1 |
| TPP1_HUMAN | 0.0003 | -0.482 | Tripeptidyl-peptidase 1 |
| RPOM_HUMAN | 0.0101 | -0.462 | DNA-directed RNA polymerase, mitochondrial |
| SPSY_HUMAN | 0.0040 | -0.437 | Spermine synthase |
| NDRG1_HUMAN | 0.0000 | -0.415 | Protein NDRG1 |
| HSF1_HUMAN | 0.0484 | -0.414 | Heat shock factor protein 1 |
| AMRP_HUMAN | 0.0001 | -0.406 | Alpha-2-macroglobulin receptor-associated protein |
| RL26_HUMAN | 0.0069 | -0.406 | 60S ribosomal protein L26 |
| RL1D1_HUMAN | 0.0004 | -0.391 | Ribosomal L1 domain-containing protein 1 |
| 4F2_HUMAN | 0.0000 | -0.391 | 4F2 cell-surface antigen heavy chain |
| IRS4_HUMAN | 0.0039 | -0.384 | Insulin receptor substrate 4 |
| ERP29_HUMAN | 0.0000 | -0.373 | Endoplasmic reticulum resident protein 29 |
| ROA2_HUMAN | 0.0016 | -0.373 | Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins A2/B1 |
| MOC2B_HUMAN | 0.0002 | -0.370 | Molybdopterin synthase catalytic subunit |
| MLP3B_HUMAN | 0.0493 | -0.366 | Microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3B |
| DPOA2_HUMAN | 0.0234 | -0.350 | DNA polymerase alpha subunit B |
| LAP2A_HUMAN | 0.0046 | -0.343 | Lamina-associated polypeptide 2, isoform alpha |
| CY1_HUMAN | 0.0000 | -0.341 | Cytochrome c1, heme protein, mitochondrial |
| SQSTM_HUMAN | 0.0227 | -0.336 | Sequestosome-1 |
| PAPOA_HUMAN | 0.0046 | 0.267 | Poly(A) polymerase alpha |
| CDC73_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.268 | Cell division cycle protein 73 |
| IF2B2_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.269 | Insulin-like growth factor 2 mRNA-binding protein 2 |
| IF5_HUMAN | 0.0029 | 0.269 | Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 5 |
| GLO2_HUMAN | 0.0217 | 0.278 | Hydroxyacylglutathione hydrolase, mitochondrial |

Table 4: Changes in protein levels in HEK293T cells upon Hop depletion

| FTO_HUMAN | 0.0004 | 0.285 | Alpha-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenase FTO |
|-------------|--------|-------|---|
| GMPPB_HUMAN | 0.0078 | 0.299 | Mannose-1-phosphate guanyltransferase beta |
| IQGA1_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.305 | Ras GTPase-activating-like protein IQGAP1 |
| UBE20_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.305 | E3-independent E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme |
| AMPB_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.305 | Aminopeptidase B |
| TCTP_HUMAN | 0.0016 | 0.316 | Translationally-controlled tumor protein |
| SRP14_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.325 | Signal recognition particle 14 kDa protein |
| ODO1_HUMAN | 0.0361 | 0.336 | 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase, mitochondrial |
| SUGT1_HUMAN | 0.0136 | 0.341 | Protein SGT1 homolog |
| USP9X_HUMAN | 0.0169 | 0.344 | Probable ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase FAF-X |
| CPNE1_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.351 | Copine-1 |
| FXR1_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.359 | Fragile X mental retardation syndrome-related protein 1 |
| HSP71_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.359 | Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1A |
| FAAA_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.361 | Fumarylacetoacetase |
| PSMG4_HUMAN | 0.0156 | 0.362 | Proteasome assembly chaperone 4 |
| IMP4_HUMAN | 0.0040 | 0.362 | U3 small nucleolar ribonucleoprotein protein IMP4 |
| FA98B_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.369 | Protein FAM98B |
| WDR11_HUMAN | 0.0301 | 0.373 | WD repeat-containing protein 11 |
| FERM2_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.378 | Fermitin family homolog 2 |
| SBP1_HUMAN | 0.0232 | 0.383 | Methanethiol oxidase |
| MAAI_HUMAN | 0.0142 | 0.402 | Maleylacetoacetate isomerase |
| ARL2_HUMAN | 0.0106 | 0.433 | ADP-ribosylation factor-like protein 2 |
| TBCE_HUMAN | 0.0001 | 0.452 | Tubulin-specific chaperone E |
| IPO4_HUMAN | 0.0104 | 0.453 | Importin-4 |
| ASSY_HUMAN | 0.0013 | 0.496 | Argininosuccinate synthase |
| IF4A2_HUMAN | 0.0015 | 0.508 | Eukaryotic initiation factor 4A-II |
| NEST_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.516 | Nestin |
| NBN_HUMAN | 0.0422 | 0.527 | Nibrin |
| DPOD2_HUMAN | 0.0092 | 0.586 | DNA polymerase delta subunit 2 |
| TIA1_HUMAN | 0.0035 | 0.608 | Nucleolysin TIA-1 isoform p40 |
| FANCI_HUMAN | 0.0153 | 0.683 | Fanconi anemia group I protein |
| RO60_HUMAN | 0.0051 | 0.716 | 60 kDa SS-A/Ro ribonucleoprotein |
| KTHY_HUMAN | 0.0429 | 0.742 | Thymidylate kinase |
| EPIPL_HUMAN | 0.0000 | 0.746 | Epiplakin |

3.2 Hop and HSF1 levels are correlated in tumors

Our global proteomics was conducted in the HEK293T cell line. To determine if there was any relationship between Hop and HSF1 expression in tumor samples, we analyzed publicly available data from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and Genotype-Tissue Expression project (GTex) (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Correlation between Hop and HSF1 expression in cell lines and tumor samples.

Correlation of mRNA levels for Hop and HSF1 in (A) normal tissues from GTex data and (B) tumor samples from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA). TCGA tumor data showing the relationship between HSF1 levels and (C) overall and (D) disease-free survival.

Analysis of the data from TCGA and GTex consortium showed a significant positive correlation between HSF1 and Hop mRNA levels in both normal (Figure 4A) and tumor samples (Figure 4B). In addition, the survival data from the TGCA tumor database showed an increase in survival with a lower expression of HSF1 in terms of both overall and disease-free survival (Figure. 4C and D). Taken together, these data suggested a relationship between Hop and HSF1 expression, which may lead to changes in HSF1 transcriptional activity. Furthermore, if high HSF1 levels are prognostic for poor tumor outcomes (Santagata *et al.*, 2011), then the regulation of HSF1 by Hop may be relevant in cancer.

3.3 Validation of reduction of HSF1 protein levels by western blot analysis

Global proteomics may give false results, and therefore it is necessary to validate the observations using alternative methods. To validate the results which suggested a downregulation of HSF1 following the silencing of Hop using shRNA against Hop or the shNT control, we analyzed the level of HSF1 protein by western blot analysis (Figure 5). Since the shRNA expression in our study was induced with doxycycline, untreated HEKshNT and HEK-shHOP cells were included as an additional control. We used four different lysis buffers, including RIPA (Figure 5A), 1% (w/v) SDS lysis buffer (Figure 5B), 1% (v/v) NP40 lysis buffer (Figure 5C) and the commercial lysis buffer CelLytic M (Figure 5D). The specific details of the buffers can be found in the methods section. Lysates prepared in all buffers showed the same trend of reduced levels of HSF1 upon Hop depletion in the HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline to induce the Hop-specific shRNA. In contrast, the lysates from HEK-shNT cells, both with and without doxycycline treatment and the HEK-shHOP cells without doxycycline, showed higher and similar levels of HSF1 protein. We observed multiple bands for HSF1 in the western blot which is consistent with different modifications of HSF1 reported in the literature (Zou et al., 1998).



Figure 5: Hop depletion reduced HSF1 protein levels in cell lysates.

Western blot analysis of levels of Hop and HSF1 in lysates of HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline treatment prepared using cell lysates prepared in (A) RIPA [50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 0.15 M NaCl,1%(v/v) NP40,0.1% (w/v) SDS, 0.5 % (w/v) deoxycholic acid] (B) 1% SDS [1% (w/v) SDS in 50 mMTris-HCl pH8.0, 10mMEDTA] (C) 1% NP40 [1% (v/v) NP40 in 1XPBS] (D) CelLytic M lysis buffers. GAPDH and Histone H3 served as loading controls.

To further validate the depletion of HSF1 upon Hop depletion, we conducted a doxycycline washout assay (Figure 6). Lysates were prepared for western blot from HEK-shHOP and HEK-shNT cells after 72 hrs of treatment with or without doxycycline, and then at 24-hr time periods after subsequent culture in doxycycline free medium for a further 72 hrs (Figure 6A). Western blot analysis showed stable levels of HSF1 and Hop in the HEK-shNT lysates with or without doxycycline, and in the HEK-shHOP lysates without doxycycline (Figure 6B). In contrast, there were reduced levels of HOP and HSF1

in HEK-shHOP lysates after 72 hrs of doxycycline treatment, and these levels increased from 24 hrs post doxycycline removal. This shows reversal of the reduction of HSF1 occurs upon removal of doxycycline in HEK-shHOP cells. Taken together, these data suggested that HSF1 levels are reduced in HEK-shHOP cells in response to the depletion of Hop levels by shRNA.



Figure 6: Recovery of HSF1 protein levels upon doxycycline removal.

(A) Schematic diagram showing the experimental design of time course of effect of doxycycline (Dox) removal on levels of Hop and HSF1. Samples were collected for western blot analysis for the indicated time points (hrs). (B) Western blot analysis showing levels of HSF1 and Hop in HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with (+) and without (-) doxycycline treatment and/or doxycycline withdrawal throughout the experiment. Histone H3 served as a loading control.

3.4 Basal reductions in HSF1 protein levels upon Hop depletion are reversed in response to heat shock

Western blot analysis is only semi-quantitative, and hence we used enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to quantify the levels of HSF1 in HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP lysates with and without doxycycline treatment under basal and heat shock conditions (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Quantification of changes in HSF1 levels under basal and heat shock conditions.

ELISA to quantify average levels of HSF1 per mg of whole cell lysate (±SD, n=3) from samples prepared in RIPA buffer from HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with (+) and without (-) doxycycline (Dox) treated under basal and heat shock (HS) conditions. Statistical analysis was done by unpaired t-test comparing doxycycline-treated HEK-shHOP cells with other treatments (*p<0.05, ns not significant)

HSF1 levels were not significantly different in the HEK-shNT lysates with and without doxycycline treatment (86.1±11.5ng HSF1/mg cell lysate compared to 63.6±12.6 ng HSF1/mg cell lysate, respectively) or in the HEK-shHOP lysates without doxycycline (67.2±16.4 ng HSF1/mg cell lysate). In contrast, the HEK-shHOP lysates treated with doxycycline showed a significant reduction in HSF1 levels to approximately 50% of the untreated HEK-shHOP cells (33.3±10.3 ng HSF1/mg cell lysate, p<0.05). Upon heat shock, the levels of HSF1 were significant difference in the levels between HEK-shHOP lysates with and without doxycycline (189.5±16.8ng HSF1/mg cell lysate compared to 166.1±37.2 ng HSF1/mg cell lysate, respectively). These data suggest that HSF1 levels are reduced under basal conditions with Hop depletion, but Hop depletion does not prevent heat shock-induced increases in HSF1 levels.

3.5 HSF1 subcellular distribution is altered in Hop-depleted cells

HSF1 is known to shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm. Therefore, we analyzed if Hop depletion resulted in alterations in the subcellular localization of HSF1. We conducted biochemical fractionation of the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions from HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline under basal and heat shock conditions (Figure 8).



Figure continued over page



B Cytoplasmic fraction



С **Nuclear fraction**

Figure 8: HSF1 accumulation in the cytoplasm with Hop depletion under heat shock.

HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP lysates treated with (+) and without (-) doxycycline under basal and heat shock (HS) conditions (42 °C for 1 hr without recovery) were fractionated and protein levels in(A) whole cell lysate, (B) cytoplasmic fraction and (C) nuclear fractions analyzed by western blot analysis. GAPDH, tubulin and histone H3 served as loading controls and markers for successful fractionation of cytoplasm and nucleus. SE: short exposure, LE: long exposure. Images are representative of independent duplicate experiments.

Western blot analysis in the whole cell lysate under basal conditions indicated that HSF1 levels were reduced in HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline, compared to the controls of HEK-shHOP without doxycycline and HEK-shNT with and without doxycycline (Figure 8A). The levels of HSF1 were increased in both HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells irrespective of doxycycline treatment upon heat shock (Figure 8A), which was consistent with the ELISA data (Figure 7). HSP70 levels were slightly reduced in the Hop-depleted cells compared to the controls under both basal and heat shock conditions, but no major changes were seen in levels of HSP90 α and HSP90 β . HSP40 levels were increased in response to heat shock irrespective of Hop depletion (Figure 8A).

In the cytoplasmic fractions, western blot showed similar levels of HSF1 in all lysates under basal conditions. However, an accumulation of HSF1 levels in the cytoplasmic fraction was seen upon heat shock only in the HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline to induce Hop depletion (Figure 8B). Reduced protein expression was observed in the cytoplasmic fraction of the HEK-shHOP lysate with doxycycline and heat shock for HSP40, HSP90 α , HSP90 β , and HSP70. Tubulin served as a positive loading control for cytoplasm and histone as a negative control to confirm the successful isolation of the cytoplasmic fraction (Figure 8B).

In the nuclear fractions, western blot analysis showed reduced HSF1 levels for the HEKshHOP cells with doxycycline compared to the controls under both basal and heat shock conditions (Figure 8C). HSP70 levels were also lower in the Hop-depleted lysates compared to controls in both basal and heat shock conditions, whereas HSP40 levels were low in all cell lines upon heat shock. HSP90 α and HSP90 β levels in Hop-depleted cells were reduced in the nucleus upon heat shock in Hop-depleted lysates compared to controls but were not different under basal conditions (Figure 8C).

The biochemical fractionation studies suggested that Hop depletion resulted in an altered nuclear to cytoplasmic ratio for HSF1 upon heat shock. To support these data, we conducted confocal microscopy on HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP with and without doxycycline treatment, under basal and heat shock conditions (Figure 9). We analyzed

the localization and distribution of total HSF1 (in green) and pSER326:HSF1 (in red), which is a classical site of HSF1 phosphorylation in response to heat shock (Boellmann *et al.*, 2004; Guettouche *et al.*, 2005). Under basal conditions, the HEK-shNT with and without doxycycline showed a diffuse staining pattern across the cytoplasm and nucleus for both the total HSF1 and pSER326:HSF1 (Figure 9A). Heat shock treatment increased the proportion of total and pSER326:HSF1 signal in the nucleus (Figure 9B). For the HEK-shNT without doxycycline, a similar diffuse HSF1 staining pattern to the HEK-shNT cells was observed under basal conditions (Figure 9C). In contrast, in the HEK-shHOP cells with doxycycline treatment, the staining pattern of HSF1 and pSER326:HSF1 was punctate and predominantly in the nucleus (Figure 9C). Upon heat shock, the HEK-shHOP cells without doxycycline showed an increase in total HSF1 and pSER326:HSF1 in the nucleus, similar to the HEK-shNT cells. In the HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline, the punctate nuclear staining for total HSF1 and pSER326:HSF1 was observed, as was an apparent accumulation of total HSF1 and pSER326:HSF1 in the cytoplasm. (Figure 9D).

HEK-shNT BASAL









Figure 9: Changes in subcellular localization of HSF1 upon Hop depletion.

Confocal microscopy to detect total HSF1 (green) or HSF1 phosphorylated on Ser326 (red) in HEK-shNT with and without doxycycline under (A) basal and (B) heat shock conditions (42 °C for 1 hr without recovery), and in HEK-shHOP with and without doxycycline treatment under (C) basal and (D) heat shock conditions. Hoechst 33324 was used to stain the nucleus (blue). Upper panels in each grouping show cells captured at 63x magnification. The lower panels show magnified images of the areas represented in white boxes.

3.6 HSF1-DNA binding and transcriptional activity altered in Hopdepleted HEK293T cells

Having shown changes in the HSF1 protein levels and subcellular localization, we next analyzed whether these changes would culminate in a change in HSF1 activity (Figure 10). First, we assessed the ability of HSF1 in cell lysates to bind a biotinylated oligonucleotide containing a canonical HSE under basal and heat shock conditions (Underwood et al., 2013) (Figure 10A). The binding of the HSE was inferred from the absorbance after detection with streptavidin-HRP conjugate. The data shown are from equivalent amounts of cell lysate, have had background binding from a control peptide containing a mutant HSE subtracted, and have been normalized to the HEK-shNT cells without doxycycline under basal conditions (Figure 10A). There was equivalent binding of the HSE containing peptide above background under basal conditions in the HEKshNT cell lysates with or without doxycycline, and the HEK-shHOP cell lysates without doxycycline. However, HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline led to a reduction in the amount of HSE containing peptide bound. Upon heat shock, there was a significant increase relative to basal conditions in the binding of the HSE containing peptide in the HEK-shNT irrespective of doxycycline treatment and in the HEK-shHOP lysates lacking doxycycline. However, while there was a minor increase in HSE peptide binding in the heat-shocked HEK-shHOP lysates with doxycycline treatment, this was not significantly different from the basal conditions. The reduction in HSE peptide binding in the HEKshHOP with doxycycline in response to heat shock was, however, significantly different from the heat shock response detected in other cell lysates

In addition, we analyzed the transcriptional activity from an HSF1 regulated reporter based on the HSP70 promoter under basal and heat shock conditions. HSF1 transcriptional activity was determined as the amount of luciferase activity relative to the EGFP transcription control. Equivalent levels of transcriptional activity were detected in the untreated and doxycycline-treated HEK-shNT, cells as well as the HEK-shHOP without doxycycline under basal conditions. However, basal levels of transcriptional activity were reduced in HEK-shHOP cells with doxycycline. Heat shock-induced a significant increase in transcriptional activity in the HEK-shNT cells irrespective of doxycycline treatment, and in the HEK-shHOP cells without doxycycline. In contrast, there were significantly reduced levels of transcriptional activity in the heat-shocked HEK-shHOP cells with doxycycline compared to the other cells (Figure 10B). Taken together, these data suggest that HSF1 HSE binding and transcriptional activity are reduced in Hop-depleted cells.

3.7 Hop-depleted cells are more sensitive to HSF1 inhibition

Given the reduced levels and activity of HSF1 in the Hop-depleted cells, we tested whether Hop depletion affected the sensitivity of cells to an inhibitor of HSF1, known as KRIBB11. KRIBB11 inhibits HSF1 transcription by impeding the recruitment of p-TEFb in transcriptional complex (Yoon *et al.*, 2011). The analysis showed that HEK-shHOP with doxycycline treatment had an IC₅₀ value for KRIBB11 (2.8 ± 1.2 µM) that was approximately ten-fold lower than the respective control cell lines (HEK-shNT with and without doxycycline (36.3 ± 1.1 and 37.1 ± 1.0 µM, respectively) and HEK-shHOP without doxycycline (43.0 ± 1.2 µM) (Table 5). This suggested that Hop-depleted cells are more sensitive to HSF1 inhibition which would correlate with reduced basal levels of HSF1 upon Hop depletion.

| Cell line and treatment* | KRIBB11 IC ₅₀ ±SEM (µM) |
|--------------------------|------------------------------------|
| HEK-shNT-Dox | 36.3± 1.1 |
| HEK-shNT+Dox | 37.1±1.0 |
| HEK-shHOP-Dox | 43.0±1.2 |
| HEK-shHOP+Dox | 2.8±1.2 |

Table 5: Cytotoxicity of KRIBB11 against Hop-expressing or depleted cell lines.

*Dox: doxycycline; +: with; -: without.



Figure 10: HSF1 activity is reduced in Hop-depleted cells.

Analysis of HSF1 activity in HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline treatment under basal and heat shock conditions using (A) binding of DNA probe containing a canonical HSE sequence and (B) transcriptional activity from an HSF1 responsive reporter plasmid measured as luciferase activity normalized to GFP fluorescence from the pLV-eGFP plasmid used as a transfection efficiency control. In (A), the data have undergone subtraction of background data from the binding of a competitor HSE probe and then were normalized to the basal HEK-shNT sample without doxycycline. Error bars represent ±SD (n=3). Statistical analysis was done by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test (***p<0.0001).

3.8 Interaction of HSF1 and Hop in cell lines

Our analysis had suggested that HSF1 levels and activity were altered in Hop-depleted cells. We, therefore, attempt to understand how this occurred in more detail. We first tested for possible interactions between HSF1 and Hop in cell lines (Figure 11). Confocal microscopy showed that HSF1 and Hop colocalized in both wild type and HEK-shNT cells, as well as the colon cancer cell line HCT116 and cervical cancer cell line HeLa (Figure 11A). In the wild type HEK293T and the HEK-shNT cells, both HSF1 and Hop were predominantly located in the cytoplasm. In the HCT116 and the HeLa cell lines, both HSF1 and Hop staining was detected in the nucleus and cytoplasm. Quantitative colocalization analysis was conducted in Image J to calculate the degree of pixel-on-pixel colocalization using Pearson's correlation coefficients (R). R values of 1 represent perfect correlation, while R values of -1 represent complete exclusion. In all cell lines analyses, there was a significant colocalization of Hop and HSF1 with average R values (±SD) above 0.7 (Figure 11A). To test if HSF1 and Hop could be isolated in complex, we performed immunoprecipitations from HEK-shNT cells transfected with a plasmid expressing HA-Hop or an untransfected lysate as a control followed by western blot analysis. The whole cell lysate was used as input to validate successful transfection and show the presence of endogenous HSP70 and HSF1. The HA-IP detected the presence of both HA-Hop and HSF1 in the IP fractions, but not the control. In addition, the Hop interacting chaperone HSP70 was also detected in the complex. Taken together, these data demonstrate the colocalization of HSF1 and Hop in cells and indicate that HSF1 and Hop can be isolated in a joint complex that can accommodate HSP70 (Figure 11B).





Figure 11: Interaction of HSF1 and Hop in cell lines.

(A) Confocal microscopy for HSF1 (green) and Hop (red) in HEK-shNT, HEK293 WT, HCT116 WT (wild type), and HeLa WT cell lines. Nuclei were stained using Hoechst 33324 (blue). The R value shown in white writing on the merged image represents the average Pearson correlation coefficient (±SD, from a minimum of 5 different frames). (B) Detection of proteins in complex with HA-Hop by western blot analysis after HA-Hop immunoprecipitation from transfected HEK-shNT cell lysates.

3.9 Effect of Hop depletion on interaction of HSF1 with HSP70 and HSP90

HSF1 is known to interact with HSP70 and HSP90 chaperones, both of which interact with and are regulated by Hop. Therefore, we assessed whether Hop depletion would alter the interaction of HSF1 with these chaperones. First, we used immunoprecipitation of endogenous HSP70 and analyzed complexes by western blot from HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline treatment (Figure 12).



Figure 12: Hop depletion reduces HSF1 in HSP70 complexes.

HSP70 was isolated from HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP lysates with and without doxycycline treatment (A) and (B) associating proteins in complexes analyzed by western blot analysis in control (beads only) and HSP70 immunoprecipitations.

The input showed reduced HSF1 levels in the Hop-depleted cells compared to controls (Figure 12A). Equivalent levels of HSP70 were isolated in the immunoprecipitations for all treatments. HSF1 was detected in all the HSP70 complexes, but the amount of HSF1 isolated with HSP70 complexes in Hop-depleted cells was lower than the other conditions (Figure 12B).

Next, we tested the effect of Hop depletion on HSF1 interaction with HSP90. The endogenous HSF1-HSP90 interaction is known to be transient and difficult to isolate since HSF1 binds preferentially to the N-terminal dimerized HSP90 conformation, which is rarely detected in cells (Zou et al., 1998; Kijima et al., 2018). Therefore, we made use of an HSP90*a*E47A mutant that traps the chaperone in a closed conformation to study the HSF1-HSP90 interaction (Kijima *et al.*, 2018). The HSP90 α isoform was used as this showed higher binding to HSF1 than HSP90β (Kijima et al., 2018). HEK-shNT and HEKshHOP cells with and without doxycycline treatment were transfected with the HA-HSP90*α*E47A plasmid, followed by HA immunoprecipitation and western blot analysis. Untransfected cell lysates were used as a control for the IP. HSF1 levels were reduced only in lysates with depleted Hop levels (Figure 13A). HA-HSP90αE47A was successfully isolated in complex with HSF1. In this case, there was no change in the amount of HSF1 isolated when Hop was depleted. Interestingly, however, there was a reduction in the amount of HSP70 detected in the complexes with Hop depletion (Figure 13B). Future experiments conducting reciprocal IPs using anti-HSF1 antibodies and detection of HSP90, HSP70 and Hop in associating complexes would increase confidence in these data.



Figure 13: Hop depletion does not affect HSF1 association with the closed conformation of HSP90 α .

The conformationally closed HA-HSP90αE47A mutant was isolated from transfected HEK-shNT, and HEK-shHOP lysates with and without doxycycline treatment (A) and (B) associating protein complexes analyzed by western blot analysis in HA immunoprecipitations from untransfected lysates (control) and transfected lysates.
3.10 Effect of HSP70 and HSP90 inhibition on HSF1 levels in Hopdepleted cells

We next aimed to understand the effect of inhibition of HSP90 on HSF1 levels in Hopdepleted cells. HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline treatment under basal and heat shock conditions were untreated or treated with 1 μ M of the HSP90 inhibitor 17-DMAG for 16 hrs and analyzed by western blot (Figure 14). Under basal conditions, 17-DMAG did not alter the HSF1 levels in the HEK-shNT cells irrespective of doxycycline treatment. However, heat shock-induced an accumulation in the 57 kDa band of HSF1 in response to 17-DMAG treatment in HEK-shNT with or without doxycycline. Hop levels were also reduced in 17-DMAG treated HEK-shNT cells only when combined with heat shock and irrespective of doxycycline treatment (Figure 14A). Depletion in the levels of the known HSP90 client Cdk4 (Smith *et al.*, 2005) under both basal and heat shock conditions in the 17-DMAG treatment served as a positive control for HSP90 inhibition.

In the HEK-shHOP cells, there was a reduction in HSF1 levels under basal conditions with and without 17-DMAG treatment only in Hop-depleted lysates treated with doxycycline (Figure 14B). Heat shock resulted in increased levels of HSF1 in both the untreated and 17-DMAG treated HEK-shHOP lysates in the absence of doxycycline. In the HEK-shHOP lysates with doxycycline treatment, there was an increase in HSF1 levels in the heat-shocked lysates compared to the equivalent sample under basal conditions in the absence but not the presence of 17-DMAG (Figure 14B). Under basal conditions, Cdk4 levels were reduced in Hop-depleted lysates to an equivalent level to 17-DMAG treatment while combined Hop depletion and 17-DMAG reduced levels further. The reduction in Cdk4 upon Hop depletion was greater than 17-DMAG in the heat-shocked samples, with the combination of Hop depletion and 17-DMAG further reducing levels. This suggested that Hop depletion may inhibit HSP90 function and that the combination of Hop depletion and HSP90 inhibition reduced the recovery of HSF1 in response to heat shock.



Figure 14: Effect of HSP90 inhibition on HSF1 upon Hop depletion under basal and heat shock conditions.

Western blot analysis of levels of HSF1, Hop, and Cdk4 (positive control for HSP90 inhibition) in response to 17-DMAG treatment under basal and heat shock conditions in (A) HEK-shNT and (B) HEK-shHOP with and without doxycycline treatment.

We next tested the effect of HSP70 inhibition on HSF1 levels in Hop-expressing and depleted lysates using the JG98 inhibitor (Yaglom *et al.*, 2018)(Figure 15). HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline were treated with 5 µM JG98 or DMSO control for 16 hrs and protein levels in cell lysates analyzed by western blot. JG98 treatment under basal conditions in HEK-shNT with or without doxycycline did not substantially alter HSF1 levels. However, under heat shock, there was a minor reduction in HSF1 levels in the JG98 treated lysates (irrespective of doxycycline treatment) (Figure 15A).

In the HEK-shHOP cells under basal conditions, HSF1 was lower in DMSO treated cells with doxycycline compared to without doxycycline and reduced further in JG98 treated lysates lacking Hop. Under heat shock conditions, there was a recovery in HSF1 levels in Hop-depleted lysates compared to the DMSO treated, but JG98 treatment reduced the HSF1 and HSP70 levels in the Hop-depleted HEK-shHOP lysates compared to the controls and compared to the equivalent treatment under basal conditions (Figure 15B). HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline were subsequently treated under basal conditions with DMSO, or a dose-response of the HSP70 inhibitor JG98 for 16hrs. Cell lysates were analyzed by western blot, which showed that JG98 induced a loss inHSF1 protein levels in the HEK-shNT with and without doxycycline, and the HEK-shHOP cells without doxycycline treatment (Figure 15C). However, the combination of Hop depletion and JG98 led to a loss of detectable HSF1 levels at concentrations of 5 and 10 μ M in HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline (Figure 15C). However, future experiments should confirm the effect of JG98 using a validated marker of HSP70 inhibition.



Figure continued over page



Figure 15: Effect of HSP70 inhibition on HSF1 levels in Hop-depleted cells.

Western blot analysis of levels of HSF1, Hop, and HSP70 in response to JG98 treatment under basal and heat shock conditions in (A) HEK-shNT and (B) HEK-shHOP with and without doxycycline treatment. (C) effect of a range of JG98 doses in HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP with and without doxycycline treatment under basal conditions.

3.11 Analysis of the viability of Hop-depleted cells in response to HSP70 and HSP90 inhibition and heat shock

To determine if Hop depletion resulted in changes in cell viability, we analyzed the proliferation of HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline-treated using a resazurin based microtitre based assay. Cell viability after 72 hrs was normalized to the HEK-shNT cells without doxycycline, which was taken as 100%. There was a significant reduction in average viability of the HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline (18.9±3.6) compared to the HEK-shNT with or without doxycycline and the HEK-shHOP without doxycycline (96.7±5.0, 100±3.6 and 94.4±12.1, respectively) (Figure 16).



Figure 16: Hop depletion reduces cell viability

We next used clonogenic assays to measure the long-term survival of cells under basal and heat shock conditions and in response to HSP90 inhibition (Figure 17). Images were captured of wells (Figure 17A) and average cell survival quantified by solubilization of crystal violet dye retained by cells and normalized to the HEK-shNT without doxycycline under basal conditions (Figure 17B). HEK-shNT cells (irrespective of doxycycline treatment) and HEK-shHOP cells without doxycycline treatment showed a significantly higher cell survival compared to HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline under both basal and heat shock conditions in the presence and absence of 17-DMAG. However, while the HEK-shHOP cells treated with doxycycline had significantly reduced survival compared to other cells under all conditions, heat shock and/or 17-DMAG treatment did not significantly alter the average long term survival of the (already slow growing) Hopdepleted cells compared to basal conditions or lack of inhibitor (Figure 17).

Viability of HEK-shNT and HEK-shHOP cells with and without doxycycline treatment was assessed by resazurin assay after 72 hrs in culture. Average absorbance (±SD, n=3) was normalized to HEK-shNT without doxycycline, which was taken as 100% viability. Statistical analysis was done using two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test (**p<0.01).



Figure 17: Effect of HSP90 inhibition on the survival of Hop-depleted cells.

Long-term cell survival determined by a clonogenic assay in HEK-shHOP and HEK-shNT cells, with and without doxycycline treatment under basal and heat shock conditions and in the presence of HSP90 inhibitor 17-DMAG. (A) Representative images of wells after crystal violet staining, (B) average absorbance (±SD, n=3) of solubilized crystal violet dye normalized to the HEK-shNT cells without doxycycline treatment. Statistical analysis was done by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test (*p<0.05).

We next tested the effect of long-term survival of Hop-depleted and expressing cells in response to HSP70 inhibition with JG98 under basal and heat shock conditions (Figure 18). JG98 did not significantly alter the ability of the control cells to survive in the clonogenic assay under basal and heat shock conditions. Similar to the previous analysis (Figure 17), the HEK-shHOP cells with doxycycline treatment showed significantly reduced long-term survival compared to the controls under all conditions. However, in contrast to the 17-DMAG treatments, HSP70 inhibition with JG98 resulted in further reductions in long term survival under both basal and heat shock conditions. Taken together, these data suggest that Hop depletion reduces cell survival and proliferation, which is increased under stress conditions in response to HSP70 but not HSP90 inhibition.



Figure 18: Effect of HSP70 inhibition on the survival of Hop-depleted cells.

Long-term cell survival determined by a clonogenic assay in HEK-shHOP and HEK-shNT cells, with and without doxycycline treatment under basal and heat shock conditions and in the presence of HSP70 inhibitorJG98. (A) Representative images of wells after crystal violet staining, (B) average absorbance (±SD, n=3) of solubilized crystal violet dye normalized to the HEK-shNT cells without doxycycline treatment. Statistical analysis was done by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test (***p<0.001).

CHAPTER 4: Discussion

HSF1 is a transcription factor that regulates the expression of a selected number of chaperone genes in response to cellular stress (Anckar & Sistonen, 2011). While HSF1 may only regulate a restricted number of stress-responsive genes, its function is critical for cell survival after stress, as the genes it regulates are required to respond to the disruption of protein homeostasis caused by stress (Solís et al., 2016). In addition, HSF1 mediates a distinct transcriptional program in oncogenesis (Mendillo et al., 2012). Inactive HSF1 held in the cytoplasm in a complex with chaperones undergoes activation when stress-induced misfolding competes for chaperone binding (Zheng et al., 2016). HSF1 undergoes nuclear translocation, trimerization, and posttranslational modifications to bind DNA and become transcriptionally active. HSF1 is subsequently deactivated through posttranslational modifications, chaperone binding, and/or degradation (Hietakangas et al., 2006; Anckar & Sistonen, 2011; Vihervaara & Sistonen, 2014; Gomez-Pastor et al., 2018; Joutsen & Sistonen, 2019). Phosphorylation is a mechanism to fine-tune HSF1 function, including the duration of the heat shock response (Zheng et al., 2016). In particular, the interaction of HSF1 with HSP70 and stress-related HSF1-induced HSP70 transcription, are linked to attenuation or inhibition of the heat shock response (Krakowiak et al., 2018). Therefore, any stimulus which perturbs these processes will likely have consequences for HSF1 levels and activity.

While the role of HSP70 and HSP90 in HSF1 activation and stabilization has been studied in detail (Mosser *et al.*, 1993; Rabindran *et al.*, 1994; Nunes & Calderwood, 1995; Shi *et al.*, 1998; Zheng *et al.*, 2016; Kijima *et al.*, 2018; Krakowiak *et al.*, 2018), there have been limited reports on the role of the HSP70-HSP90 co-chaperone Hop. Here, we report in mammalian cell lines that Hop and HSF1 colocalized in cell lines and could be isolated in a common complex together with HSP70. HSF1 levels were reduced in Hop-depleted cells under basal conditions, although HSF1 levels increased to levels equivalent to the controls upon heat shock. There was a decrease in the nuclear localization of HSF1, HSP70, HSP90, and HSP40 with a concomitant increase in cytoplasmic levels upon Hop depletion when combined with heat shock. In addition, HSF1 and HSF1 phosphorylated

at Ser326 was punctate in the nucleus upon Hop depletion under basal conditions. While heat-shocked Hop-depleted cells retained the nuclear HSF1 puncta and showed no increase in nuclear HSF1, there was also an increase in perinuclear cytoplasmic HSF1 staining, which was consistent with the biochemical fractionation. Hop depletion led to a reduction in HSE binding and transcriptional activity from an HSF1 reporter plasmid under basal and heat shock conditions. Given the increase of HSF1 levels in Hop-depleted cells upon cell stress, these data suggested that the reduced binding and transcriptional activation in response to heat shock were not solely due to reduced HSF1 levels. Hopdepleted cells were more sensitive to the HSF1 inhibitor KRIBB11. Loss of Hop did not affect the interaction of HSF1 with the closed conformation of HSP90 but did reduce the interaction with HSP70. Treatment of cells with the HSP70 inhibitor JG98, which blocks the association between HSP70 and BAG proteins (Li et al., 2015), did not alter HSF1 levels in control cells but led to further reductions in HSF1 protein levels in Hop-depleted cells. Furthermore, heat shock reduced cell survival in Hop-depleted cells, which was further reduced by HSP70 inhibition with JG98, but not HSP90 inhibition with 17-DMAG. Taken together, these data suggest that Hop is involved in stabilization of HSF1 protein under basal conditions and that it regulates the levels and activity of HSF1 through mechanisms that may involve reduced HSP70 interaction together with reduced nuclear localization, reduced DNA binding, and transcriptional activity.

Hop was originally identified in yeast (termed STI1 for stress-inducible gene 1 since its expression was increased tenfold by heat shock) (Nicolet & Craig, 1989). STI1 was found in a screen for proteins regulating the expression of the yeast HSP70 SSA4 (homologous to HSPA1A in humans). Yeast lacking STI1 showed normal growth under basal conditions but reduced growth at elevated or lowered temperatures suggesting a role in stress adaption. Also, STI1 overexpression led to the transactivation of the SSA4 promoter, suggesting a role of STI1 in the stress response, which we now know is regulated in part by HSF1 (Nicolet & Craig, 1989). HSP70 isoforms are classical targets for HSF1 (Trinklein *et al.*, 2004). Ruckova and colleagues showed that in cell lines, siRNA against Hop reduced HSF1 protein levels, while Hop overexpression had no significant effect on HSF1 protein levels (Ruckova *et al.*, 2012). Hop was itself shown to be stress-inducible and

regulated by HSF1 binding to two HSEs (GAANNTTCNNGAA) in the Hop promoter sequence between positions -260 and -680 base pairs from the transcription start site. This suggested a reciprocal relationship between HSF1 and Hop levels (Ruckova *et al.*, 2012).These two studies are consistent with and support our finding that Hop depletion reduces HSF1 levels and activity and suggests that the response is conserved between mammalian and yeast cells. However, the recent finding in yeast that deletion of Hop resulted in a remarkable decrease in HSP90 availability, and a strong HSR activation is not consistent with our study (Alford & Brandman, 2018).

Mathematical modeling showed that the total concentration of HSF1 is a determining factor for the stress response under both basal and stress conditions, irrespective of the presence of excess HSF1 compared to HSE sequences. Even a 25% decrease in HSF1 from the basal level at 37°C translates to an equivalent decrease in transcriptional response and *vice versa* (Rieger *et al.*, 2005). This would suggest that the reduced HSF1 activity and HSE binding under basal conditions upon Hop depletion was due to the 50% reduction in HSF1 protein.

However, the mechanism by which HSF1 levels are reduced in Hop-depleted cells remains undefined. There are limited studies on the stability of HSF1 protein levels, and those which are available suggest that acetylation, particularly at residues K208 and K298, may stabilize HSF1 and prevent turnover via the proteasome (Raychaudhuri *et al.*, 2014). The effect of Hop depletion on HSF1 acetylation could be studied in the future to address this question. Also, the HS70/HSP90 co-chaperone CHIP, which mediates the degradation of chaperone clients via the proteasome, competes with Hop for binding to chaperones (Muller *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, in the absence of Hop, there may be more CHIP associated with the HSP90 or HSP70 chaperones, increasing proteasomal degradation. However, our proteomic analyses suggest that there is not a global turnover of proteins upon Hop depletion, and hence this effect would need to be client-specific were it to explain the basal reductions in HSF1. In addition, increased CHIP expression is involved in nuclear translocation and activation of HSF1, an effect that was abrogated by mutation of a critical residue required for HSP70 interaction in the CHIP TPR domain

84

(Dai *et al.*, 2003). This suggests that the CHIP-HSP70 interaction is required for the CHIPmediated activation of HSF1, and in this way, increasing the CHIP-HSP70 interaction upon Hop depletion would not be expected to culminate in our observed HSF1 inhibition. Interestingly, the levels of HSF1 in Hop-depleted cells were returned to levels equivalent to the controls in response to heat shock, which suggested that either Hop does not regulate stress-induced expression of HSF1 (and assumes stability of HSF1 under normal and stress conditions is different), or that HSF1 is somehow stabilized by changes associated with heat shock. However, Hop is clearly required for active HSF1 during heat shock, since there was still reduced HSE binding and transcriptional activation compared to controls despite the increased protein levels.

Besides its role as a receptor for the prion protein, the predominant role for Hop in the cell has been to function as an essential mediator of the interaction between HSP70 and HSP90 (Patricia Hernández et al., 2002; Carrigan et al., 2004; Beraldo et al., 2013; Baindur-Hudson et al., 2015). Hop is absent from prokaryotes, where HSP90 and HSP70 interact directly (Genest et al., 2015). Recent studies have also shown that HSP90 and HSP70 can both interact and chaperone clients in eukaryotic cells (Kravats et al., 2018). This then indicates that Hop is not essential for the HSP70-HSP90 interaction and begs the question of the exact biological function of Hop. It is possible that Hop is not required for the HSP70-HSP90 chaperone machine to function, but rather that it serves a regulatory role, mediating the rate of chaperone folding and perhaps governing the entry of selected (groups) of client proteins. This is relevant in the context of this study, given the central role of HSP70 and HSP90 in the regulation of HSF1 function. The HSP70-HSF1 interaction is stronger than the HSF1-HSP90 interaction, suggesting that HSP70 has a constitutive stress repressive role in HSR in mammalian cells (Kijima et al., 2018). Recently HSP90 has been shown to be involved in HSF1 deactivation rather than keeping in HSF1 in a monomeric form before activation (Kijima et al., 2018). Hop stabilizes the "open" conformation of HSP90 and promotes transfer of the client protein from the HSP70 complex to HSP90 (Chang et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2012; Baindur-Hudson et al., 2015). This suggests that in turn loss of Hop should promote the closed HSP90 conformation, which should lead to increased association between HSP90 and HSF1. This was not observed in our study but could be because it is difficult to quantify due to the transient nature of the wild type HSP90-HSF1 interaction (Kijima *et al.*, 2018).

The HSP70-HSF1 interaction is a major determinant of HSF1 regulation (Shi *et al.*, 1998; Zheng *et al.*, 2016; Krakowiak *et al.*, 2018; Peffer *et al.*, 2019). Our data show that HSF1 colocalized with and could be isolated in Hop complexes containing HSP70. The depletion of Hop resulted in a reduction in the amount of HSF1 isolated in HSP70 complexes but did not affect the interaction of HSF1 with the closed conformation of HSP90. This HSP70 phenotype is consistent with the role of Hop as a co-chaperone involved in mediating substrate association with chaperones. However, Hop has been predominantly viewed as a co-chaperone of HSP90 rather than HSP70, and so it is interesting that the HSP70 interaction and not the HSP90 interaction with HSF1 was perturbed. These data support a role for Hop as a regulator of HSP70 activity independently of HSP90.

The effect of Hop depletion on HSF1 function may be due to reduced HSF1-HSP70 interaction. The consensus from several studies by different groups is that HSP70 is a negative regulator of HSF1 function and is important in attenuation of the heat shock response. HSF1 forms bipartite interactions with the HSP70 substrate binding site (Peffer *et al.*, 2019). Disruption of the HSP70-HSF1 interaction has been shown to result in HSF1 activation, induction of the heat shock response, and delayed attenuation (Zheng *et al.*, 2016, 2018; Krakowiak *et al.*, 2018). This contrasts with our data, where we see a reduction in HSF1-HSP70 interaction in Hop-depleted cells coinciding with altered HSF1 nuclear staining patterns under basal and heat shock conditions, as well as reduced HSF1 nuclear localization, HSE binding and transcriptional activity at an HSF1-responsive promoter in response to heat shock. These contradictory data could be interpreted to mean either that Hop is required for HSF1 activity upon release from HSP70 repression, or that the reduced association of HSF1 from HSP70 is not what induces the loss in HSF1 activity in Hop-depleted cells.

Hop depletion led to a profound reduction in HSF1 levels when combined with JG98, the allosteric HSP70 inhibitor which blocks the BAG-HSP70 interaction and destabilizes client proteins (Jin et al., 2015; Yaglom et al., 2018). BAG3 is thought to have an analogous scaffolding function for HSP70 chaperone complexes to Hop (Rauch & Gestwicki, 2014), and BAG3 interacts with HSF1 (Jin et al., 2015). The disruption of the BAG-HSP70 complex would be expected to prevent nucleotide exchange linked to substrate release by HSP70 and, consequently, may be expected to extend the HSF1-HSP70 interaction. HSF1 is bound at the HSP70 substrate binding site, and these blocked HSP70 complexes would then lead to degradation of HSF1, similar to that seen for other HSP70 clients like Raf1 and Akt (Li et al., 2013). Hop and BAG3 interact with distinct sites of HSP70, and steric hindrance between the different sites influences binding (Gebauer et al., 1998). Therefore, the proportion of BAG3 in HSP70 complexes may be altered in Hop-depleted cells. Given the role of BAG3 in promoting the release of HSP70 substrates, it could be speculated that increased BAG3 binding in the absence of Hop promotes the release of HSF1 from HSP70. However, again this would not account for lack of transcriptional activation since releasing HSF1 from HSP70 by overexpression of a yeast NEF has been shown to promote HSF1 activation (Masser et al., 2019). Similarly, it is not clear if BAG-HSP70 complexes were to be increased upon Hop depletion, why JG98 (which disrupts BAG-HSP70 interactions) would potentiate the loss of HSF1 in Hop-depleted cells rather than stabilize them.

HSF1 shuttles between the nucleus and cytoplasm under basal conditions, but nuclear accumulation is observed under stress due to reduced export and is essential for HSF1 activity (Vujanac *et al.*, 2005). Accumulated nuclear HSF1 is usually considered to be activated and in a trimerized form, which is capable of binding the conserved upstream HSE sequences of HSF1 target genes like HSPA1A to initiate the stress response (Trinklein *et al.*, 2004; Anckar & Sistonen, 2011). Our data showed that in Hop-depleted cells, HSF1 distribution was not significantly different to controls under basal conditions. However, HSF1 failed to translocate to the nucleus in response to heat stress and accumulated in the cytoplasm, which would explain the loss in HSF1 DNA binding and transcriptional activity in Hop-depleted cells upon heat shock. HSP40 has been shown to

colocalize to the nucleus with HSP70, followed by a return to the cytoplasm during attenuation (Hattori et al., 1993). However, there was also a reduction in nuclear translocation in response to heat shock of selected chaperones in Hop-depleted cells. In general, cell stress results in the collapse of the Ran gradient causing nuclear accumulation of α-importin and blocking the classical nuclear import of NLS-containing proteins(Stochaj et al., 2000; Miyamoto et al., 2004). Under stress conditions, HSP70 is translocated to the nucleus by a novel stress-related import mechanism mediated by the protein known as Hikeshi (Imamoto & Kose, 2012). Hop is predominantly a cytoplasmic protein but possesses a bipartite NLS motif enabling the protein to move in and out of the nucleus during stages of the cell cycle. This shuttling is controlled by phosphorylation by cdc2 kinase at the cdc2-kinase-NLS motif at amino acids 180-239 of Hop (Longshaw et al., 2004). However, Hop nuclear translocation under stress is not dependent on this sequence (Daniel et al., 2008), although if Hikeshi regulates stress-related nuclear translocation of other chaperones is not known. These data suggest that Hop or Hopmediated chaperone complexes regulate nuclear localization of HSF1 during heat shock. Whether the reduced nuclear localization is due to decreased import or increased export of HSF1 is currently unknown. Interestingly, the co-chaperone BAG3, which binds HSF1 and competes with Hop for binding to HSP70 (Gebauer et al., 1998), translocated to the nucleus and increased export of HSF1 during attenuation (Franceschelli et al., 2008).

Under both basal and heat shock conditions, a defect in HSE binding and punctate nuclear HSF1 staining was observed in Hop-depleted cells. The morphology of the HSF1 nuclear staining in Hop-depleted cells resembled that seen with nuclear stress bodies (nSB) (Raychaudhuri *et al.*, 2014). These nSBs are associated with transcriptionally active HSF1 complexes (Alastalo *et al.*, 2003). However, this is not necessarily consistent with our observations of reduced HSF1 activity in Hop-depleted cells, which suggests that the puncta likely do not represent functional nSB. However, taken together, these data do suggest a change in HSF1 DNA interactions in Hop-depleted cells. It is unlikely that this phenotype is related to the defect in nuclear translocation in response to stress since the phenotype was conserved in Hop-depleted cells under both basal and stress conditions. Whether this is related to the changes in HSP70-HSF1 interaction remains to

be determined. A study in yeast triggering the release of HSF1 from HSP70 by forced nuclear translocation of the NEF Sse1 led to transcriptional activation of HSF1 (Masser *et al.*, 2019). This would be consistent with the formation of nuclear puncta, but not with a lack of transcriptional activity.

The reduced HSF1 levels and activity in Hop-depleted cells corresponded to reduced short-term proliferation under basal conditions and reduced long-term survival under basal and heat shock conditions. In *sti1* null yeast cells, there was reduced growth at both 30°C and 37°C (Nicolet & Craig, 1989). HSP70 inhibition (with JG98), not HSP90 inhibition (with 17-DMAG), potentiated the low cell survival of Hop-depleted cells, and JG98 was associated with further decreases in HSF1 protein levels. Hop-depleted cells were also more sensitive to the HSF1 inhibitor KRIBB11 than controls. KRIBB11 treatment and HSF1 depletion by RNA have been shown to produce the same phenotype (Fok *et al.*, 2018), and hence it is likely that Hop depletion and KRIBB11 combine in inhibiting HSF1. Together, these data suggest that reduced cellular fitness in Hop-depleted cells is linked to HSP70-dependent reductions in HSF1.

In conclusion, our data demonstrate a role for Hop in the regulation of the levels and activity of the stress-responsive transcription factor HSF1. Depletion of Hop impaired HSF1 function. The most plausible explanation for this based on our data and those of others in the field is that Hop depletion restricts the nuclear localization of HSF1 under heat shock, which reduces its ability to bind HSE and become transcriptionally active, culminating in reductions in cell survival. Our data also suggest a role for regulation of HSP70, but not HSP90, by Hop in these processes, which substantiates that Hop is not only involved as a co-chaperone in mediating HSP70-HSP90 complexes. Work into understanding the mechanism in more detail is ongoing, including extending analysis to other cell lines to determine the significance and broaden the generalization of the findings.

CHAPTER 5: Appendix I

| Table 6: List of primar | y antibodies us | ed and their | respective | dilutions for | western |
|-------------------------|-----------------|--------------|------------|---------------|---------|
| blot analysis | - | | - | | |

| Name | Source | Catalog no | Dilution |
|--------------|--------------------|-------------|----------|
| HSF1 | Abcam | ab2923 | 1:1000 |
| HSF1 | Enzo Life Sciences | ADA-SPA-901 | 1:1000 |
| Нор | Abcam | ab126724 | 1:5000 |
| Histone | Abcam | ab1791 | 1:5000 |
| HSP40 | Abcam | | 1:5000 |
| Tubulin | Abcam | ab7291 | 1:5000 |
| НА | Abcam | ab9110 | 1:10000 |
| ΗSP90αβ | Santa cruz | sc-13119 | 1:5000 |
| | biotechnology | | |
| HSP90α | Enzo life sciences | adi-spa-840 | 1:10000 |
| HSP90β | Abcam | ab1198333 | 1:5000 |
| HSP70 | Santa cruz | sc-24 | 1:5000 |
| | biotechnology | | |
| GAPDH-HRP | Abcam | ab185059 | 1:10000 |
| Conjugated | | | |
| pSer326:HSF1 | Abcam | ab76076 | 1:1000 |
| Cdk4 | Abcam | ab108357 | 1:5000 |
| HSP40 | Abcam | ab69402 | 1:5000 |

Table 7: List of secondary antibodies used and their respective dilutions for western blot analysis

| Name | Source | Catalog no | Dilution |
|-------------|--------|------------|----------|
| Anti-Rabbit | Abcam | ab97064 | 1:10000 |
| Anti-Mouse | Abcam | ab97023 | 1:5000 |
| Anti-Rat | Abcam | ab97057 | 1:10000 |

Table 8: List of primary antibodies used and their respective dilutions for confocal microscopy

| Name | Source | Catalog no | Dilution |
|--------------|-----------------------------|------------|----------|
| HSF1 | Abcam | ab2923 | 1:100 |
| HSF1 | Santa cruz biotechnology | sc-13156 | 1:100 |
| Нор | Abcam | ab126724 | 1:100 |
| Нор | Santa cruz biotechnology | sc-390206 | 1:100 |
| pSer326:HSF1 | Abcam | ab76076 | 1:100 |

Table 9: List of secondary antibodies used and their respective dilutions for confocal microscopy

| Name | Source | Catalog no | Dilution |
|-----------------|--------|------------|----------|
| Alexa 488 anti- | Abcam | ab150073 | 1:500 |
| Rabbit | | | |
| Alexa 555 anti- | Abcam | ab150074 | 1:500 |
| Rabbit | | | |
| Alexa 488 anti- | Abcam | ab150106 | 1:500 |
| Mouse | | | |

CHAPTER 6: References

Abravaya, Klara, Myers MP, Murphy SP, M.R. & Biology, C. (1992) The human heat shock protein hsp70 interacts with HSF, the transcription factor that regulates heat shock gene expression. *Genes and Development*, **6**, 1153–1164.

Ahn, S.-G. & Thiele, D.J. (2003) Redox regulation of mammalian heat shock factor 1 is essential for Hsp gene activation and protection from stress. *Genes and Development*, **17**, 516–528.

Åkerfelt, M., Morimoto, R.I. & Sistonen, L. (2010a) Heat shock factors: integrators of cell stress, development and lifespan. *Nature reviews Mol Cell Biology*, **11**, 545–555.

Åkerfelt, M., Vihervaara, A., Laiho, A., Conter, A., Christians, E.S., Sistonen, L., *et al.* (2010b) Heat Shock Transcription Factor 1 Localizes to Sex Chromatin during Meiotic Repression. *J. Biol. Chern*, **285**, 34469– 34476.

Alastalo, T., Hellesuo, M., Sandqvist, A., Hietakangas, V., Kallio, M. & Sistonen, L. (2003) Formation of nuclear stress granules involves HSF2 and coincides with the nucleolar localization of Hsp70. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **116**, 3557–3570.

Alford, B.D. & Brandman, O. (2018) Quantification of Hsp90 availability reveals differential coupling to the heat shock response. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **217**, 3809–3816.

Ali, A., Bharadwaj, S., O'Carroll, R. & Ovsenek, N. (1998) HSP90 Interacts with and Regulates the Activity of Heat Shock Factor 1 in Xenopus Oocytes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **18**, 4949–60.

Amemiya, C.T., Alföldi, J., Lee, A.P., Fan, S., Philippe, H., Maccallum, I., *et al.* (2013) The African coelacanth genome provides insights into tetrapod evolution. *Nature*, **496**, 311–316.

Amin, J., Ananthan, J. & Voellmy, R. (1988) Key features of heat shock regulatory elements. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, **8**, 3761–3769.

Anckar, J. & Sistonen, L. (2007a) Heat Shock Factor 1 as a Coordinator of Stress and Developmental Pathways. In *Molecular Aspects of the Stress Response: Chaperones, Membranes and Networks*. pp. 78–88.

Anckar, J. & Sistonen, L. (2007b) SUMO: getting it on. *Biochemical Society transactions*, **35**, 1409–1413.

Anckar, J. & Sistonen, L. (2011) Regulation of HSF1 Function in the Heat Stress Response : Implications in Aging and Disease. *Ann. Rev. Biochem.*, **80**, 1089–115.

Andreasson, C., Fiaux, J., Rampelt, H., Druffel-augustin, S. & Bukau, B. (2008) Insights into the structural dynamics of the Hsp110 – Hsp70 interaction reveal the mechanism for nucleotide exchange activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **105**, 16519–24.

Baindur-Hudson, S., Edkins, A.L. & Blatch, G.L. (2015) Hsp70/Hsp90 organising protein (hop): beyond interactions with chaperones and prion proteins. *Sub-cellular biochemistry*.

Baler, R., Dahl, G. & Voellmyl, R. (1993) Activation of Human Heat Shock Genes Is Accompanied by Oligomerization, Modification, and Rapid Translocation of Heat Shock Transcription Factor HSF1. *Mol*

Cell Biol, 13, 2486–2496.

Ballinger, C.A., Connell, P., Wu, Y., Hu, Z., Thompson, L.J., Yin, L., *et al.* (1999) Identification of CHIP, a Novel Tetratricopeptide Repeat-Containing Protein That Interacts with Heat Shock Proteins and Negatively Regulates Chaperone Functions. *Mol Cell Biol*, **19**, 4535–4545.

Beraldo, F.H., Soares, I.N., Goncalves, D.F., Fan, J., Thomas, A.A., Santos, T.G., *et al.* (2013) Stressinducible phosphoprotein 1 has unique cochaperone activity during development and regulates cellular response to ischemia via the prion protein. *FASEB Journal*, **27**, 3594–3607.

Bharadwaj, S., Ali, A. & Ovsenek, N. (1999) Multiple components of the HSP90 chaperone complex function in regulation of heat shock factor 1 In vivo. *Molecular and cellular biology*, **19**, 8033–41.

Biamonti, G. (2004) Nuclear stress bodies: a heterochromatin affair? *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*, **5**, 493–498.

Blagosklonny, M. V. (2001) Role of the heat shock response and molecular chaperones in oncogenesis and cell death. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, **93**, 239–240.

Boellmann, F., Guettouche, T., Guo, Y., Fenna, M., Mnayer, L. & Voellmy, R. (2004) DAXX interacts with heat shock factor 1 during stress activation and enhances its transcriptional activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **101**, 4100–4105.

Boyault, C., Zhang, Y., Fritah, S., Caron, C., Gilquin, B., So, H.K., *et al.* (2007) HDAC6 controls major cell response pathways to cytotoxic accumulation of protein aggregates. *Genes and Development*, **21**, 2172–2181.

Calderwood., S. K., Neckers., L. (2016) Hsp90 in Cancer: Transcriptional Roles in the Nucleus. *Adv Cancer Res*, **129**, 89–106.

Calderwood, S.K. & Gong, J. (2012) Molecular chaperones in mammary cancer growth and breast tumor therapy. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, **113**, 1096–1103.

Carrigan, P.E., Nelson, G.M., Roberts, P.J., Stoffer, J., Riggs, D.L. & Smith, D.F. (2004) Multiple Domains of the Co-chaperone Hop Are Important for Hsp70 Binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **279**, 16185–16193.

Carrigan, P.E., Riggs, D.L., Chinkers, M. & Smith, D.F. (2005) Functional comparison of human and Drosophila Hop reveals novel role in steroid receptor maturation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **280**, 8906–8911.

Chang, H.C., Nathan, D.F. & Lindquist, S. (1997) In vivo analysis of the Hsp90 cochaperone Sti1 (p60). *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **17**, 318–325.

Chao, A., Lai, C.H., Tsai, C.L., Hsueh, S., Hsueh, C., Lin, C.Y., *et al.* (2013) Tumor Stress-Induced Phosphoprotein1 (STIP1) as a Prognostic Biomarker in Ovarian Cancer. *PLoS ONE*, **8**, 1–9.

Chen, S. & Smith, D.F. (1998) Hop as an adaptor in the heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) and Hsp90 chaperone machinery. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**, 35194–35200.

Cho, H., Kim, S., Shin, H., Chung, E.J., Kitano, H. & Park, J.H. (2014) Expression of Stress-Induced Phosphoprotein1 (STIP1) is Associated with Tumor Progression and Poor Prognosis in Epithelial Ovarian

Cancer. Genes Chromosome and Cancer, 53, 277–288.

Chou, S.-D., Prince, T., Gong, J. & Calderwood, S.K. (2012) mTOR is essential for the proteotoxic stress response, HSF1 activation and heat shock protein synthesis. *PloS one*, **7**, e39679.

Chu, B., Soncin, F., Price, B.D., Stevenson, M.A. & Calderwood, S.K. (1996) Sequential Phosphorylation by Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase and Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 Represses Transcriptional Activation by Heat Shock Factor-1 *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **271**, 30847–30857.

Chu, B., Zhong, R., Soncin, F., Stevenson, M.A. & Calderwood, S.K. (1998) Transcriptional Activity of Heat Shock Factor 1 at 37 o C Is Repressed through Phosphorylation on Two Distinct Serine Residues by Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 and Protein Kinases Calpha and Czeta*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**, 18640–18646.

Coltinho, A.S., Lopes, M.H., Hajj, G.N.M., Rossato, J.I., Freitas, A.R., Castro, C.C., *et al.* (2007) Short-term memory formation and long-term memory consolidation are enhanced by cellular prion association to stress-inducible protein 1. *Neurobiology of Disease*, **26**, 282–290.

Consortium, T.G. (2013) The Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) project. Nat Genet, 45, 580–585.

Corey, L.L., Weirich, C.S., Benjamin, I.J. & Kingston, R.E. (2003) Localized recruitment of a chromatinremodeling activity by an activator in vivo drives transcriptional elongation. *Genes and Development*, **17**, 1392–1401.

Csermely, P., Miyata, Y., Soti, C. & Yahara, I. (1997) Binding affinity of proteins to hsp90 correlates with both hydrophobicity and positive charges. A surface plasmon resonance study. *Life Sciences*, **61**, 411–418.

Csermely, P., Schnaider, T., Soti, C., Prohászka, Z. & Nardai, G. (1998) The 90-kDa molecular chaperone family: structure, function, and clinical applications. A comprehensive review. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, **79**, 129–168.

Dai, C. & Sampson, S.B. (2016) HSF1: Guardian of Proteostasis in Cancer. *Trends in Cell Biology*, **26**, 17–28.

Dai, C., Santagata, S., Tang, Z., Shi, J., Cao, J., Kwon, H., *et al.* (2012) Loss of tumor suppressor NF1 activates HSF1 to promote carcinogenesis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **122**, 3742–3754.

Dai, Q., Zhang, C., Wu, Y., Mcdonough, H., Whaley, R.A., Godfrey, V., *et al.* (2003) CHIP activates HSF1 and confers protection against apoptosis and cellular stress. *EMBO J*, **22**, 5446–58.

Dai, R., Frejtag, W., He, B., Zhang, Y. & Mivechi, N.F. (2000) c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase targeting and phosphorylation of heat shock factor-1 suppress its transcriptional activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275**, 18210–18218.

Dai, S., Tang, Z., Cao, J., Zhou, W., Li, H. & Sampson, S. (2015) Suppression of the HSF1-mediated proteotoxic stress response by the metabolic stress sensor AMPK. *EMBO J*, **34**, 275–93.

Dai, W., Ye, J., Zhang, Z., Yang, L., Ren, H., Wu, H., *et al.* (2018) Increased expression of heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) is associated with poor survival in gastric cancer patients. *Diagnostic Pathology*, **13**, 1–9.

Daniel, S., Bradley, G., Longshaw, V.M., Söti, C., Csermely, P. & Blatch, G.L. (2008) Nuclear translocation

of the phosphoprotein Hop (Hsp70/Hsp90 organizing protein) occurs under heat shock, and its proposed nuclear localization signal is involved in Hsp90 binding. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, **1783**, 1003–1014.

Dayalan Naidu, S., Sutherland, C., Zhang, Y., Risco, A., la Vega, L. de, Caunt, C.J., *et al.* (2016) Heat Shock Factor 1 Is a Substrate for p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **36**, 2403–2417.

Drecoll, E., Nitsche, U., Bauer, K., Berezowska, S., Slotta-Huspenina, J., Rosenberg, R., *et al.* (2014) Expression analysis of heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) and Her2 in colon carcinoma. *International Journal of Colorectal Disease*, **29**, 663–671.

Dudeja, V., Chugh, R.K., Sangwan, V., Skube, S.J., Mujumdar, N.R., Antonoff, M.B., *et al.* (2011) Prosurvival role of heat shock factor 1 in the pathogenesis of pancreatobiliary tumors. *American Physiological Society*, **300**, 948–955.

Edkins, A.L. & Boshoff, A. (2014) General Structural and Functional Features of Molecular Chaperones. In *Heat Shock Proteins of Malaria* (ed. by Shonhai, A. & Blatch, G.L.). Springer, pp. 5–45.

Evans, C.G., Chang, L. & Gestwicki, J.E. (2010) Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsp70) as an Emerging Drug Target. *J Med Chem*, **53**, 4585–4602.

Farkas, T., Kutskova, Y.A. & Zimarino, V. (1998) Intramolecular Repression of Mouse Heat Shock Factor 1. *Molecular and cellular biology*, **18**, 906.

Felts, S.J., Owen, B.A.L., Nguyen, P., Trepel, J., Donner, D.B. & Toft, D.O. (2000) The hsp90-related protein TRAP1 is a mitochondrial protein with distinct functional properties. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **275**, 3305–3312.

Ferrari, N., Ranftl, R., Chicherova, I., Slaven, N.D., Moeendarbary, E., Farrugia, A.J., *et al.* (2019) Dickkopf-3 links HSF1 and YAP/TAZ signalling to control aggressive behaviours in cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nature Communications*, **10**, 130.

Fok, J.H.L., Hedayat, S., Zhang, L., Aronson, L.I., Mirabella, F., Pawlyn, C., *et al.* (2018) HSF1 Is Essential for Myeloma Cell Survival and A Promising Therapeutic Target. *Clinical Cancer Research*, **24**, 2395–2407.

Franceschelli, S., Rosati, A., Lerose, R., Nicola, S.D.E., Turco, M.C. & Pascale, M. (2008) Bag3 Gene Expression Is Regulated by Heat Shock Factor 1. *J Cell Physiology*, **215**, 575–577.

Fritah, S., Col, E., Boyault, C., Govin, J., Sadoul, K., Chiocca, S., *et al.* (2009) Heat-shock factor 1 controls genome-wide acetylation in heat-shocked cells. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, **20**.

Gaglia, G., Rashid, R., Yapp, C., Joshi, G.N., Carmen, G., Lindquist, S.L., *et al.* (2020) HSF1 phase transition mediates stress adaptation and cell fate decisions. *Nature Cell Biology*, **22**, 151–158.

Gan, N., Wu, Y.C., Brunet, M., Garrido, C., Chung, F.L., Dai, C., *et al.* (2010) Sulforaphane activates heat shock response and enhances proteasome activity through up-regulation of Hsp27. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **285**, 35528–35536.

Gebauer, M., Zeiner, M. & Gehring, U. (1998) Interference between Proteins Hap46 and Hop/p60, Which Bind to Different Domains of the Molecular Chaperone hsp70/hsc70. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **18**,

6238–6244.

Genest, O., Hoskins, J.R., Kravats, A.N., Doyle, S.M. & Wickner, S. (2015) Hsp70 and Hsp90 of E. coli Directly Interact for Collaboration in Protein Remodeling. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, **427**, 3877–3889.

Gomez-Pastor, R., Burchfiel, E.T. & Thiele, D.J. (2018) Regulation of heat shock transcription factors and their roles in physiology and disease. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, **19**, 4–19.

Grad, I., Cederroth, C.R., Walicki, J., Grey, C., Barleunga, S., Winssinger, N., *et al.* (2010) The Molecular Chaperone Hsp90 a Is Required for Meiotic Progression of Spermatocytes beyond Pachytene in the Mouse. *PLoS ONE*, **5**, e15770.

Green, M., Schuetz, T.J., Sullivan, E.K. & Kingston, R.E. (1995) A heat shock-responsive domain of human HSF1 that regulates transcription activation domain function. *Molecular and cellular biology*, **15**, 3354–3362.

Guettouche, T., Boellmann, F., Lane, W.S. & Voellmy, R. (2005) Analysis of phosphorylation of human heat shock factor 1 in cells experiencing a stress. *BMC Biochemistry*, **6**, 1–14.

Guo, Y., Guettouche, T., Fenna, M., Boellmann, F., Pratt, W.B., Toft, D.O., *et al.* (2001) Evidence for a Mechanism of Repression of Heat Shock Factor 1 Transcriptional Activity by a Multichaperone Complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **276**, 45791–45799.

Hajj, G.N.M., Arantes, C.P., Dias, M.V.S., Roffé, M., Costa-Silva, B., Lopes, M.H., *et al.* (2013) The unconventional secretion of stress-inducible protein 1 by a heterogeneous population of extracellular vesicles. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, **70**, 3211–3227.

Hartl, F.U. (1996) Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. *Nature*, **381**, 571–9.

Hartl, F.U., Bracher, A. & Hayer-Hartl, M. (2011) Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. *Nature*, **475**, 324–332.

Hattori, H., Kaneda, T., Lokeshwar, B. & Ohtsuka, K. (1993) A stress-inducible 40 kDa protein (hsp40): purification by modified two- dimensional gel electrophoresis and co-localization with hsc70 (p73) in heat-shocked HeLa cells. *J Cell Science*, **638**, 629–638.

Hietakangas, V., Ahlskog, J.K., Jakobsson, A.M., Hellesuo, M., Sahlberg, N.M., Holmberg, C.I., *et al.* (2003) Phosphorylation of Serine 303 Is a Prerequisite for the Stress-Inducible SUMO Modification of Heat Shock Factor 1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **23**, 2953–2968.

Hietakangas, V., Anckar, J., Blomster, H.A., Fujimoto, M., Palvimo, J.J., Nakai, A., *et al.* (2006) PDSM, a motif for phosphorylation-dependent SUMO modification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **103**, 45–50.

Hohfeld, J., Minami, Y. & Hartl, F. (1995) Hip, a Novel Cochaperone Involved in the Eukaryotic Hsc70 / Hsp40 Reaction Cycle. *Cell*, **83**, 589–598.

Holmberg, C.I., Hietakangas, V., Mikhailov, A., Rantanen, J.O., Kallio, M., Meinander, A., *et al.* (2001) Phosphorylation of serine 230 promotes inducible transcriptional activity of heat shock factor 1. *EMBO J*, **20**, 3800–3810.

Honore, B., Lefferssfl, H., Rasmussen, H.H., Vandekerckhove, J. & Celis, J.E. (1992) Molecular cloning and

expression of a transformation-sensitive human protein containing the TPR motif and sharing identity to the stress-inducible yeast protein STI1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **267**, 8485–8491.

Hu, Y. & Mivechi, N.F. (2003) HSF-1 Interacts with Ral-binding Protein 1 in a Stress-responsive, Multiprotein Complex with HSP90 in Vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**, 17299–17306.

Huang, C.Y., Lee, F.L., Peng, S.F., Lin, K.H., Chen, R.J., Ho, T.J., *et al.* (2018) HSF1 phosphorylation by ERK/GSK3 suppresses RNF126 to sustain IGF-IIR expression for hypertension-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, **233**, 979–989.

Imamoto, N. & Kose, S. (2012) Heat-shock stress activates a novel nuclear import pathway mediated by Hikeshi. *Nucleus*, **3**, 422–428.

Jaattela, M. (1999) Escaping cell death: survival proteins in cancer. *Exp Cell Res*, **248**, 30–43.

Jäättelä, M., Wissing, D., Kokholm, K., Kallunki, T. & Egeblad, M. (1998) Hsp7O exerts its anti-apoptotic function downstream of caspase-3-like proteases. *EMBO Journal*, **17**, 6124–6134.

Jaeger, A.M. & Whitesell, L. (2019) HSP90: Enabler of Cancer Adaptation. *Annual Review of Cancer Biology*, **3**, 275–297.

Jahn, M., Rehn, A., Pelz, B., Hellenkamp, B., Richter, K. & Rief, M. (2014) The charged linker of the molecular chaperone Hsp90 modulates domain contacts and biological function. *PNAS*, **111**, 17881–6.

Jansen, A., Lewitter, F., Fink, G.R., Hammock, E.A., Hannan, A.J., King, D.G., *et al.* (2013) Corrected 22 november 2013; see last page, **323**, 1063–1067.

Jin, Y., Ahn, S. & Kim, S. (2015) BAG3 affects the nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of HSF1 upon heat stress. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **464**, 561–567.

Johnson, B.D., Schumacher, R.J., Ross, E.D. & Toft, D.O. (1998) Hop modulates hsp70/hsp90 interactions in protein folding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**, 3679–3686.

Johnson, J.L. & Brown, C. (2009) Plasticity of the Hsp90 chaperone machine in divergent eukaryotic organisms. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, **14**, 83–94.

Johnson, J.L. & Craig, E.A. (2001) An Essential Role for the Substrate-Binding Region of Hsp40s inSaccharomyces cerevisiae. *J Cell Biology*, **152**, 851–856.

Joutsen, J. & Sistonen, L. (2019) Tailoring of proteostasis networks with heat shock factors. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, **11**, pii: a034066.

Kampinga, H.H., Hageman, J., Vos, M.J., Kubota, H., Tanguay, R.M., Bruford, E.A., *et al.* (2009) Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, **14**, 105–111.

Karam, J.A., Parikh, R.Y., Nayak, D., Rosenkranz, D., Gangaraju, V.K. & Wek, R.C. (2017) Co-chaperone Hsp70/Hsp90-organizing protein (Hop) is required for transposon silencing and Piwi-interacting RNA (piRNA) biogenesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **292**, 6039–6046.

Kenneth Allan, R. & Ratajczak, T. (2011) Versatile TPR domains accommodate different modes of target protein recognition and function. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, **16**, 353–367.

Kijima, T., Prince, T.L., Tigue, M.L., Yim, K.H., Schwartz, H., Beebe, K., *et al.* (2018) HSP90 inhibitors disrupt a transient HSP90-HSF1 interaction and identify a noncanonical model of HSP90-mediated HSF1 regulation. *Scientific Reports*, **8**, 6976.

Kim, E.H., Lee, Y.J., Bae, S., Lee, J.S., Kim, J. & Lee, Y.S. (2009) Heat shock factor 1-mediated aneuploidy requires a defective function of p53. *Cancer Research*, **69**, 9404–9412.

Kim, S., Yoon, J., Lee, S. & Ahn, S. (2005) Polo-like Kinase 1 Phosphorylates Heat Shock Transcription Factor 1 and Mediates Its Nuclear Translocation during Heat Stress *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **280**, 12653–12657.

Kituyi, S.N. & Edkins, A.L. (2018) Hop / STIP1 depletion alters nuclear structure via depletion of nuclear structural protein emerin. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **507**, 503–509.

Kline, M.P. & Morimoto, R.I. (1997) Repression of the Heat Shock Factor 1 Transcriptional Activation Domain Is Modulated by Constitutive Phosphorylation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **17**, 2107–2115.

Knauf, U., N, M., Kyriakis, J. & Kingston, R.E. (1996) Repression of human heat shock factor 1 activity at control temperature by phosphorylation. *Genes and Development*, **10**, 2782–2793.

Kovács, D., Sigmond, T., Hotzi, B., Bohár, B., Fazekas, D., Deák, V., *et al.* (2019) HSF1Base: A comprehensive database of HSF1 (heat shock factor 1) target genes. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, **20**, pii: E5815.

Krakowiak, J., Zheng, X., Patel, N., Feder, Z.A., Anandhakumar, J., Valerius, K., *et al.* (2018) Hsf1 and Hsp70 constitute a two-component feedback loop that regulates the yeast heat shock response. *eLife*, **7**, pii: e31668.

Kramer, G., Patzelt, H., Rauch, T., Kurz, T.A., Vorderwu, S., Bukau, B., *et al.* (2004) Trigger Factor Peptidyl-prolyl cis / trans Isomerase Activity Is Not Essential for the Folding of Cytosolic Proteins in Escherichia coli. *J Biological Chemistry*, **279**, 14165–14170.

Kravats, A.N., Hoskins, J.R., Reidy, M., Johnson, J.L., Doyle, S.M., Genest, O., *et al.* (2018) Functional and physical interaction between yeast Hsp90 and Hsp70. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **115**, :E2210-E2219.

Labbadia, J. & Morimoto, R.I. (2015) The Biology of Proteostasis in Aging and Disease. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, **84**, 435–464.

Lawson, B., Brewer, J.W. & Hendershot, L.M. (1998) Geldanamycin, an hsp90/GRP94-binding drug, induces increased transcription of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) chaperones via the ER stress pathway. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, **174**, 170–178.

Lee, C.-T., Graf, C., Mayer, F.J., Richter, S.M. & Mayer, M.P. (2012) Dynamics of the regulation of Hsp90 by the co-chaperone Sti1. *The EMBO Journal*, **31**, 1518–1528.

Leskovar, A., Wegele, H., Werbeck, N.D., Buchner, J. & Reinstein, J. (2008) The ATPase Cycle of the Mitochondrial Hsp90 Analog Trap1 *
. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **283**, 11677–11688.

Li, J., Chauve, L., Phelps, G., Brielmann, R.M. & Morimoto, R.I. (2016) E2F coregulates an essential HSF developmental program that is distinct from the heat-shock response. *Genes and Development*, **30**,

2062–2075.

Li, J., Soroka, J. & Buchner, J. (2012a) The Hsp90 chaperone machinery: Conformational dynamics and regulation by co-chaperones. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, **1823**, 624–635.

Li, J., Sun, X., Wang, Z., Chen, L., Li, D., Zhou, J., *et al.* (2012b) Regulation of vascular endothelial cell polarization and migration by Hsp70/Hsp90-organizing protein. *PLoS One*, **7**, e36389.

Li, M., Wang, X., Meintzer, M.K., Laessig, T., Birnbaum, M.J. & Heidenreich, K.A. (2000) Cyclic AMP Promotes Neuronal Survival by Phosphorylation of Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3beta. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **20**, 9356–9363.

Li, Q., Lau, A., Morris, T.J., Guo, L., Fordyce, C.B. & Stanley, E.F. (2004) A Syntaxin 1, G(alpha)o, and N-Type Calcium Channel Complex at a Presynaptic Nerve Terminal: Analysis by Quantitative Immunocolocalization. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **24**, 4070–4081.

Li, X., Colvin, T., Rauch, J.N., Acosta-Alvear, D., Kampmann, M., Dunyak, B., *et al.* (2015) Validation of the Hsp70-Bag3 protein-protein interaction as a potential therapeutic target in cancer. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, **14**, 642–648.

Li, X., Srinivasan, S.R., Connarn, J., Ahmad, A., Young, Z.T., Kabza, A.M., *et al.* (2013) Analogues of the allosteric heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) inhibitor, MKT-077, as anti-cancer agents. *ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, **4**, 1042–1047.

Lindquist, S. (1986a) The Heat-Shock Response. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 55, 1151–1191.

Lindquist, S. (1986b) The heat-shock response. Annual Review of Biochemistry.

Liu, P.C. & Thiele, D.J. (1999) Modulation of human heat shock factor trimerization by the linker domain. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **274**, 17219–17225.

Longshaw, V.M., Chapple, J.P., Balda, M.S., Cheetham, M.E. & Blatch, G.L. (2004) Nuclear translocation of the Hsp70/Hsp90 organizing protein mSTI1 is regulated by cell cycle kinases. *Journal of cell science*, **117**, 701–710.

Lopes, M.H., Hajj, G.N.M., Muras, A.G., Mancini, G.L., Castro, R.M.P.S., Ribeiro, K.C.B., *et al.* (2005) Interaction of Cellular Prion and Stress-Inducible Protein 1 Promotes Neuritogenesis and Neuroprotection by Distinct Signaling Pathways. *J. Neurosci.*, **25**, 11330–11339.

Lu, M., Lee, Y.J., Park, S.M., Ho, S.K., Shin, W.K., Kim, S., *et al.* (2009) Aromatic-participant interactions are essential for disulfide-bond-based trimerization in human heat shock transcription factor. *Biochemistry*, **48**, 3795–3797.

Luo, W., Sun, W., Taldone, T., Rodina, A. & Chiosis, G. (2010) Heat shock protein 90 in neurodegenerative diseases. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, **5**, 24.

Mahat, D.B., Salamanca, H.H., Duarte, F.M., Danko, C.G. & Lis, J.T. (2016) Mammalian Heat Shock Response and Mechanisms Underlying Its Genome-wide Transcriptional Regulation. *Molecular Cell*, **62**, 63–78.

Manders, E.M.M., Stap, J., Brakenhoff, G.J., Driel, R.V.A.N. & Aten, J.A. (1992) Dynamics of threedimensional replication patterns during the S-phase , analysed by double labelling of DNA and confocal microscopy. J Cell Science, 862, 857-862.

Marzec, M., Eletto, D. & Argon, Y. (2012) GRP94: An HSP90-like protein specialized for protein folding and quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, **1823**, 774–787.

Masser, A.E., Kang, W., Roy, J., Kaimal, J.M., Quintana-cordero, J. & Andre, C. (2019) Cytoplasmic protein misfolding titrates Hsp70 to activate nuclear Hsf1. *eLife*, **8**, pii: e47791.

Mattison, S.A., Blatch, G.L. & Edkins, A.L. (2016) HOP expression is regulated by p53 and RAS and characteristic of a cancer gene signature. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, **22**, 213–223.

McMillan, D.R., Xiao, X., Shao, L., Graves, K. & Benjamin, I.J. (1998) Targeted disruption of heat shock transcription factor 1 abolishes thermotolerance and protection against heat-inducible apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**, 7523–7528.

Mendillo, M.L., Santagata, S., Koeva, M., Bell, G.W., Hu, R., Tamimi, R.M., *et al.* (2012) HSF1 drives a transcriptional program distinct from heat shock to support highly malignant human cancers. *Cell*, **150**, 549–562.

Meyer, P., Prodromou, C., Hu, B., Vaughan, C., Roe, S.M., Panaretou, B., *et al.* (2003) Structural and Functional Analysis of the Middle Segment of Hsp90 : Implications for ATP Hydrolysis and Client Protein and Cochaperone Interactions. *Mol Cell Biol*, **11**, 647–658.

Miyamoto, Y., Saiwaki, T., Yamashita, J., Yasuda, Y., Kotera, I., Shibata, S., *et al.* (2004) Cellular stresses induce the nuclear accumulation of importin alpha and cause a conventional nuclear import block. *J Cell Biology*, **165**, 617–623.

Morley, J.F. & Morimoto, R.I. (2004) Regulation of Longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans by Heat Shock Factor and Molecular Chaperones. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, **15**, 657–664.

Mosser, D.D., Duchaine, J. & Massie, B. (1993) The DNA-binding activity of the human heat shock transcription factor is regulated in vivo by hsp70. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **13**, 5427–5438.

Mosser, D.D., Kotzbauer, P.T., Sarge, K.D. & Morimoto, R.I. (1990) In vitro activation of heat shock transcription factor DNA-binding by calcium and biochemical conditions that affect protein conformation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **87**, 3748–3752.

Mosser, D.D. & Morimoto, R.I. (2004) Molecular chaperones and the stress of oncogenesis. *Oncogene*, **23**, 2907–2918.

Muller, P., Ruckova, E., Halada, P., Coates, P.J., Hrstka, R., Lane, D.P., *et al.* (2012) C-terminal phosphorylation of Hsp70 and Hsp90 regulates alternate binding to co-chaperones CHIP and HOP to determine cellular protein folding/degradation balances. *Oncogene*, **32**, 3101–3110.

Munro, S. & Pelham, H.R.B. (1987) A C-terminal signal prevents secretion of luminal ER proteins. *Cell*, **48**, 899–907.

Murshid, A., Chou, S.D., Prince, T., Zhang, Y., Bharti, A. & Calderwood, S.K. (2010) Protein kinase a binds and activates heat shock factor 1. *PLoS ONE*, **5**, e13830.

Neckers, L., Blagg, B., Haystead, T., Trepel, J.B., Whitesell, L. & Picard, D. (2018) Methods to validate Hsp90 inhibitor specificity, to identify off-target effects, and to rethink approaches for further clinical development. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, **23**, 467–482.

Neckers, L., Kern, A. & Tsutsumi, S. (2007) Hsp90 Inhibitors Disrupt Mitochondrial Homeostasis in Cancer Cells. *Chemistry and Biology*, **14**, 1204–1206.

Neef, D.W., Jaeger, A.M., Gomez-pastor, R., Willmund, F., Frydman, J. & Thiele, D.J. (2014) A Direct Regulatory Interaction between Chaperonin A Direct Regulatory Interaction between Chaperonin TRiC and Stress-Responsive Transcription Factor HSF1. *CellReports*, **9**, 955–966.

Newton, E.M., Knauf, U., Green, M. & Kingston, R.E. (1996) The regulatory domain of human heat shock factor 1 is sufficient to sense heat stress. *Mol Cell Biol*, **16**, 839–846.

Nicolet, C.M. & Craig, E.A. (1989) Isolation and characterization of STI1, a stress-inducible gene from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **9**, 3638–3646.

Nunes, S.L. & Calderwood, S.K. (1995) Heat shock factor-1 and the heat shock cognate 70 protein associate in high molecular weight complexes in the cytoplasm of NIH-3T3 cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **213**, 1–6.

Odunuga, O.O., Hornby, J.A., Bies, C., Zimmermann, R., Pugh, D.J. & Blatch, G.L. (2003) Tetratricopeptide repeat motif-mediated Hsc70-mSTI1 interaction. Molecular characterization of the critical contacts for successful binding and specificity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**, 6896–6904.

Odunuga, O.O., Longshaw, V.M. & Blatch, G.L. (2004) Hop: More than an Hsp70/Hsp90 adaptor protein. *BioEssays*, **26**, 1058–1068.

Olst, E.S., Vermeulen, C., Menezes, R.X. De, Howell, M., Smit, E.F. & Beusechem, V.W. Van. (2012) Affordable Luciferase Reporter Assay for Cell-Based High-Throughput Screening. *J Biomol Screen*, **18**, 453–61.

Onuoha, S.C., Coulstock, E.T., Grossmann, J.G. & Jackson, S.E. (2008) Structural Studies on the Cochaperone Hop and Its Complexes with Hsp90. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, **379**, 732–744.

Östling, P., Björk, J.K., Roos-Mattjus, P., Mezger, V. & Sistonen, L. (2007) Heat Shock Factor 2 (HSF2) contributes to inducible expression of hsp genes through interplay with HSF1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **282**, 7077–7086.

Patricia Hernández, M., Sullivan, W.P. & Toft, D.O. (2002) The assembly and intermolecular properties of the hsp70-Hop-hsp90 molecular chaperone complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **277**, 38294–38304.

Patury, S., Miyata, Y. & Gestwicki, J.E. (2009) Pharmacological Targeting of the Hsp70 Chaperone. *Curr Top Med Chem*, **9**, 1337–1351.

Peffer, S., Gonçalves, D. & Morano, K.A. (2019) Regulation of the Hsf1-dependent transcriptome via conserved bipartite contacts with Hsp70 promotes survival in yeast. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **294**, 12191–12202.

Perisic, O., Xiao, H. & Lis, J.T. (1989) Stable binding of Drosophila heat shock factor to head-to-head and tail-to-tail repeats of a conserved 5 bp recognition unit. *Cell*, **59**, 797–806.

Peteranderl, R. & Nelson, H.C.M. (1992) Trimerization of the heat shock transcription factor by a triple-stranded .alpha.-helical coiled-coil. *Biochemistry*, **31**, 12272–12276.

Peteranderl, R., Rabenstein, M., Shin, Y.K., Liu, C.W., Wemmer, D.E., King, D.S., *et al.* (1999) Biochemical and biophysical characterization of the trimerization domain from the heat shock transcription factor. *Biochemistry*, **38**, 3559–69.

Pirkl, F. & Buchner, J. (2001) Functional Analysis of the Hsp90-associated Human Peptidyl Prolyl Cis / Trans Isomerases FKBP51, FKBP52 and Cyp40. *J Mol Biology*, **308**, 795–806.

Prodromou, C., Roe, S.M., Brien, R.O., Ladbury, J.E., Piper, P.W. & Pearl, L.H. (1997) Identification and Structural Characterization of the ATP / ADP-Binding Site in the Hsp90 Molecular Chaperone. *Cell*, **90**, 65–75.

Rabindran, S.K., Haroun, R.I., Clos, J., Wisniewski, J. & Wu, C. (1993) Regulation of heat shock factor trimer formation: role of a conserved leucine zipper. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, **259**, 230–234.

Rabindran, S.K., Wisniewski, J., Li, L., Li, G.C. & Wu, C. (1994) Interaction between heat shock factor and hsp70 is insufficient to suppress induction of DNA-binding activity in vivo. *Molecular and cellular biology*, **14**, 6552–60.

Rauch, J.N. & Gestwicki, J.E. (2014) Binding of human nucleotide exchange factors to heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) generates functionally distinct complexes in vitro. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **289**, 1402–1414.

Raychaudhuri, S., Loew, C., Körner, R., Pinkert, S., Theis, M., Hayer-Hartl, M., *et al.* (2014) Interplay of acetyltransferase EP300 and the proteasome system in regulating heat shock transcription factor 1. *Cell*, **156**, 975–985.

Rieger, T.R., Morimoto, R.I. & Hatzimanikatis, V. (2005) Mathematical Modeling of the Eukaryotic Heat-Shock Response : Dynamics of the hsp70 Promoter. *Biophysical Journal*, **88**, 1646–1658.

Riggs, D.L., Cox, M.B., Tardif, H.L., Hessling, M., Buchner, J. & Smith, D.F. (2007) Noncatalytic Role of the FKBP52 Peptidyl-Prolyl Isomerase Domain in the Regulation of Steroid Hormone Signaling **2**. *Molecular and Cellular Biology Cell Biology*, **27**, 8658–8669.

Röhl, A., Tippel, F., Bender, E., Schmid, A.B., Richter, K., Madl, T., *et al.* (2015) Hop/Sti1 phosphorylation inhibits its co-chaperone function. *EMBO Reports*, **16**, 240–249.

Ruckova, E., Muller, P., Nenutil, R. & Vojtesek, B. (2012) Alterations of the Hsp70/Hsp90 chaperone and the HOP/CHIP co-chaperone system in cancer. *Cellular & molecular biology letters*, **17**, 446–58.

Salminen, A., Ojala, J., Kaarniranta, K., Hiltunen, M. & Soininen, H. (2011) Hsp90 regulates tau pathology through co-chaperone complexes in Alzheimer's disease. *Progress in Neurobiology*, **93**, 99–110.

Santagata, S., C, Mendillo, M.L., Tang, Y., Subramian, A., Perley, C., *et al.* (2014) Tight coordination of protein translation and heat shock factor 1 activation supports the anabolic malignant state. *Science*, **341**, 1238303.

Santagata, S., Hu, R., Lin, N., Mendillo, M.L., Collins, L.C., Hankinson, S., *et al.* (2011) High levels of nuclear heat-shock factor 1 (HSF1) are associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer. *Proceedings of*

the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, **108**, 18378–18383.

Scherz-Shouval, R., Santagata, S., Mendillo, M.L., Sholl, L.M., Ben-Aharon, I., Beck, A.H., *et al.* (2014) The reprogramming of tumor stroma by HSF1 is a potent enabler of malignancy. *Cell*, **158**, 564–578.

Scheufler, C., Brinker, A., Bourenkov, G., Pegoraro, S., Moroder, L., Bartunik, H., *et al.* (2000) Structure of TPR Domain – Peptide Complexes : Critical Elements in the Assembly of the Hsp70 – Hsp90 Multichaperone Machine. *Cell*, **101**, 199–210.

Schmid, A.B., Lagleder, S., Gräwert, M.A., Röhl, A., Hagn, F., Wandinger, S.K., *et al.* (2012) The architecture of functional modules in the Hsp90 co-chaperone Sti1/Hop. *The EMBO journal*, **31**, 1506–17.

Shi, Y., Mosser, D.D. & Morimoto, R.I. (1998) Molecular chaperones as HSF1-specific transcriptional repressors. *Genes and Development*, **12**, 654–666.

Smith, V., Sausville, E.A., Camalier, R., Feibig, H. & Burger, A.M. (2005) Comparison of 17dimethylaminoethylamino-17-demethoxy-geldanamycin in vitro : effects on Hsp90 and client proteins in melanoma models. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, **56**, 126–137.

Snyder, S.H., Lai, M.M. & Burnett, P.E. (1998) Immunophilins in the nervous system. Neuron, 21, 283–94.

Soares, I.N., Caetano, F. a, Pinder, J., Rodrigues, B.R., Beraldo, F.H., Ostapchenko, V.G., *et al.* (2013) Regulation of stress-inducible phosphoprotein 1 nuclear retention by protein inhibitor of activated STAT PIAS1. *Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP*, **12**, 3253–70.

Solís, E.J., Pandey, J.P., Zheng, X., Jin, D.X., Gupta, P.B., Airoldi, E.M., *et al.* (2016) Defining the Essential Function of Yeast Hsf1 Reveals a Compact Transcriptional Program for Maintaining Eukaryotic Proteostasis. *Molecular Cell*, **63**, 60–71.

Soncin, F., Zhang, X., Chu, B., Wang, X., Asea, A., Stevenson, M.A., *et al.* (2003) Transcriptional activity and DNA binding of heat shock factor-1 involve phosphorylation on threonine 142 by CK2. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **303**, 700–706.

Song, H.O., Lee, W., An, K., Lee, H. suk, Cho, J.H., Park, Z.Y., *et al.* (2009) C. elegans STI-1, the Homolog of Sti1/Hop, Is Involved in Aging and Stress Response. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, **390**, 604–617.

Söti, C. & Csermely, P. (2007) Protein stress and stress proteins: implications in aging and disease. *Journal of biosciences*, **32**, 511–515.

Soti, C., Nagy, E., Giricz, Z., Vigh, L., Csermely, P. & Ferdinandy, P. (2005) Heat shock proteins as emerging therapeutic targets. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, **146**, 769–780.

Soti, C., Vermes, A., Haystead, T.A.J. & Csermely, P. (2003) Comparative analysis of the ATP-binding sites of Hsp90 by nucleotide affinity cleavage : a distinct nucleotide specificity of the C-terminal ATP-binding site. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **270**, 2421–2428.

Stankiewicz, M., Nikolay, R., Rybin, V. & Mayer, M.P. (2010) CHIP participates in protein triage decisions by preferentially ubiquitinating Hsp70-bound substrates. *FEBS Journal*, **277**, 3353–3367.

Sterrenberg, J.N., Blatch, G.L. & Edkins, A.L. (2011) Human DNAJ in cancer and stem cells. *Cancer Letters*, **312**, 129–142.

Stochaj, U., Rassadi, R. & Chiu, J. (2000) Stress-mediated inhibition of the classical nuclear protein import pathway and nuclear accumulation of the small GTPase Gsp1p. *FASEB Journal*, **14**, 2130–2132.

Su, K.-H., Cao, J., Tang, Z., Dai, S., He, Y., Sampson, S.B., *et al.* (2016) HSF1 critically attunes proteotoxic stress sensing by mTORC1 to combat stress and promote growth. *Nature Cell Biology*, **18**, 527–539.

Su, K., Cao, J., Tang, Z., Dai, S., He, Y., Byers, S., *et al.* (2017) HSF1 critically attunes proteotoxic stress sensing by mTORC1 to combat stress and promote growth. *Nature Cell Biology*, **18**, 527–539.

Sullivan, E.K., Weirich, C.S., Guyon, J.R., Sif, S. & Kingston, R.E. (2001) Transcriptional Activation Domains of Human Heat Shock Factor 1 Recruit Human SWI/SNF. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **21**, 5826–5837.

Tang, Z., Dai, S., Sampson, S.B., Dai, C., Hsf, T.A., Tang, Z., *et al.* (2015) MEK guards proteome stability and inhibits tumor-suppressive amyloidogenesis via HSF1. *Cell*, **160**, 729–744.

Tang, Z., Li, C., Kang, B., Gao, G., Li, C. & Zhang, Z. (2017) GEPIA : a web server for cancer and normal gene expression profiling and interactive analyses. *Nucleic Acid Research*, **45**, 98–102.

Terasawa, K., Minami, M. & Minami, Y. (2005) Constantly Updated Knowledge of Hsp90. *Journal of Biochemistry*, **137**, 443–447.

Trembley, J.H., Wang, G., Unger, G., Slaton, J. & Ahmed, K. (2009) CK2 : A key player in cancer biology. *Cell Mol Life Science*, **66**, 1858–1867.

Trinklein, N.D., Chen, W.C., Kingston, R.E. & Myers, R.M. (2004) Transcriptional regulation and binding of heat shock factor 1 and heat shock factor 2 to 32 human heat shock genes during thermal stress and differentiation. *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, **9**, 21–28.

Underwood, K.F., Mochin, M.T., Brusgard, J.L., Choe, M., Gnatt, A. & Passaniti, A. (2013) A Quantitative Assay to Study Protein : DNA Interactions, Discover Transcriptional Regulators of Gene Expression, and Identify Novel Anti-tumor Agents. *Journal of Visualised Experiments*, **78**, 1–8.

Vihervaara, A. & Sistonen, L. (2014) HSF1 at a glance. Journal of Cell Science, 127, 261–266.

Voellmy, R. & Boellmann, F. (2007) Chaperone Regulation of the Heat Shock Protein Response. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, **594**, 89–99.

Voss, A.K., Thomas, T. & Gruss, P. (2000) Mice lacking HSP90 β fail to develop a placental labyrinth. *Development(Cambridge, England)*, **127**, 1–11.

Vuister, G.W., Kim, S.J., Orosz, A., Marquardt, J., Wu, C. & Bax, A. (1994) Solution structure of the DNAbinding domain of Drosophila heat shock transcription factor. *Nature structural biology*, **1**, 605–14.

Vujanac, M., Fenaroli, A. & Zimarino, V. (2005) Constitutive Nuclear Import and Stress-Regulated Nucleocytoplasmic Shuttling of Mammalian Heat-Shock Factor 1 Rat12 Tet-Off Phase. *Traffic*, **6**, 214–229.

Walsh, N., Larkin, A., Swan, N., Conlon, K., Dowling, P., McDermott, R., *et al.* (2011) RNAi knockdown of Hop (Hsp70/Hsp90 organising protein) decreases invasion via MMP-2 down regulation. *Cancer Letters*, **306**, 180–189.

Walsh, N., O'Donovan, N., Kennedy, S., Henry, M., Meleady, P., Clynes, M., et al. (2009) Identification of

pancreatic cancer invasion-related proteins by proteomic analysis. Proteome Science, 7, 3.

Wang, X., Grammatikakis, N., Siganou, A. & Calderwood, S.K. (2003) Regulation of Molecular Chaperone Gene Transcription Involves the Serine Phosphorylation , 14-3-3 epsilon binding , and Cytoplasmic Sequestration of Heat Shock Factor 1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, **23**, 6013–6026.

Wang, X., Khaleque, A., Zhao, M.J., Zhong, R., Gaestel, M. & Calderwood, S.K. (2006) Phosphorylation of HSF1 by MAPK-Activated Protein Kinase 2 on Serine 121, Inhibits Transcriptional Activity and Promotes HSP90 Binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **281**, 782–791.

Wegele, H., Muller, L. & Buchner, J. (2004) Hsp70 and Hsp90 - a relay team for protein folding. *Reviews of Physiology, Biochemistry and Pharmacology*, **151**, 1–44.

Welch, W.J. & Brown, C.R. (1996) Influence of molecular and chemical chaperones on protein folding. *Cell stress & chaperones*, **1**, 109–15.

Whitesell, L. & Lindquist, S. (2009) Inhibiting the transcription factor HSF1 as an anticancer strategy. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, **13**, 469–478.

Whitesell, L., Rogers, A., Lindquist, S. & Dai, C. (2007) Heat Shock Factor 1 Is a Powerful Multifaceted Modifier of Carcinogenesis. *Cell*, **130**, 1005–1018.

Willmer, T., Contu, L., Blatch, G.L. & Edkins, A.L. (2013) Knockdown of Hop downregulates RhoC expression , and decreases pseudopodia formation and migration in cancer cell lines. *Cancer Letters*, **328**, 252–260.

Woalder. (2017) 乳鼠心肌提取 HHS Public Access. Physiology & behavior, 176, 139-148.

Woods, I.G., Wilson, C., Friedlander, B., Chang, P., Reyes, D.K., Nix, R., *et al.* (2005) The zebrafish gene map defines ancestral vertebrate chromosomes. *Genome Research*, **15**, 1307–1314.

Wu, C. (1995) Heat shock transcription factors: structure and regulation. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology*, **11**, 441–69.

Xia, W., Guo, Y., Vilaboa, N., Zuo, J. & Voellmy, R. (1998) Transcriptional Activation of Heat Shock Factor HSF1 Probed by Phosphopeptide Analysis of Factor 32 P-labeled in Vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**, 8749–8755.

Xiao, H. & Lis, J.T. (1988) Germline transformation used to define key features of heat-shock response elements. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, **239**, 1139–42.

Xiao, X., Zuo, X., Davis, A.A., McMillan, D.R., Curry, B.B., Richardson, J.A., *et al.* (1999) HSF1 is required for extra-embryonic development, postnatal growth and protection during inflammatory responses in mice. *EMBO Journal*, **18**, 5943–5952.

Xie, Y., Zhong, R., Chen, C. & Calderwood, S.K. (2003) Heat shock factor 1 contains two functional domains that mediate transcriptional repression of the c-fos and c-fms genes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **278**, 4687–4698.

Xu, W., Mollapour, M., Prodromou, C., Wang, S., Scroggins, B.T., Palchick, Z., *et al.* (2012) Dynamic Tyrosine Phosphorylation Modulates Cycling of the HSP90-P50 CDC37 -AHA1 Chaperone Machine. *Molecular Cell*, **47**, 434–443.

Yaglom, J.A., Wang, Y., Li, A., Li, Z., Monti, S., Lu, X., *et al.* (2018) Cancer cell responses to Hsp70 inhibitor JG-98 : Comparison with Hsp90 inhibitors and finding synergistic drug combinations. *Scientific Reports*, **8**, 3010.

Yamamoto, S., Subedi, G.P., Hanashima, S., Satoh, T., Otaka, M., Wakui, H., *et al.* (2014) ATPase activity and ATP-dependent conformational change in the Co-chaperone HSP70/HSP90-organizing protein (HOP). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **289**, 9880–9886.

Yang, T., Ren, C., Lu, C., Qiao, P., Han, X., Wang, L., *et al.* (2019) Phosphorylation of HSF1 by PIM2 Induces PD-L1 Expression and Promotes Tumor Growth in Breast Cancer. *Cancer Letters*, **79**, 5233–5244.

Yoon, Y.J., Kim, J.A., Shin, K.D., Shin, D.S., Han, Y.M., Lee, Y.J., *et al.* (2011) KRIBB11 inhibits HSP70 synthesis through inhibition of heat shock factor 1 function by impairing the recruitment of positive transcription elongation factor b to the hsp70 promoter. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **286**, 1737–1747.

Young, J.C. (2016) Mechanisms of the Hsp70 chaperone system. Biochem Cell Biol, 88, 291–300.

Young, J.C. & Hartl, F.U. (2000) Polypeptide release by Hsp90 involves ATP hydrolysis and is enhanced by the co-chaperone p23. *EMBO J*, **19**, 5930–40.

Young, Z.T., Rauch, J.N., Assimon, V.A., Zuiderweg, E.R.P., Dickey, C.A., Gestwicki, J.E., *et al.* (2016) Stabilizing the Hsp70-Tau Complex Promotes Turnover in Models of Tauopathy. *Cell Chemical Biology*, **23**, 992–1001.

Zanata, S.M., Lopes, M.H., Mercadante, A.F., Hajj, G.N.M., Chiarini, L.B., Nomizo, R., *et al.* (2002) Stressinducible protein 1 is a cell surface ligand for cellular prion that triggers neuroprotection. *EMBO Journal*, **21**, 3307–3316.

Zelin, E. & Freeman, B.C. (2015) Lysine deacetylases regulate the heat shock response including the ageassociated impairment of HSF1. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, **427**, 1644–1654.

Zelin, E., Zhang, Y., Toogun, O.A., Zhong, S. & Freeman, B.C. (2012) The p23 molecular chaperone and GCN5 acetylase jointly modulate protein-DNA dynamics and open chromatin status. *Molecular Cell*, **48**, 459–470.

Zhang, Y., Murshid, A., Prince, T. & Calderwood, S.K. (2011) Protein Kinase A Regulates Molecular Chaperone Transcription and Protein Aggregation. *PLoS ONE*, **6**, e28950.

Zheng, X., Beyzavi, A., Krakowiak, J., Patel, N., Khalil, A.S., Pincus, D., *et al.* (2018) Hsf1 Phosphorylation Generates Cell-to-Cell Variation in Hsp90 Levels and Promotes Phenotypic Plasticity. *CellReports*, **22**, 3099–3106.

Zheng, X., Krakowiak, J., Patel, N., Beyzavi, A., Ezike, J., Khalil, A.S., *et al.* (2016) Dynamic control of Hsf1 during heat shock by a chaperone switch and phosphorylation. *eLife*, **5**, pii: e18638.

Zhong, M., Orosz, A. & Wu, C. (1998) Direct Sensing of Heat and Oxidation by Drosophila Heat Shock Transcription Factor. *Molecular Cell*, **2**, 101–108.

Zou, J., Guo, Y., Guettouche, T., Smith, D.F. & Voellmy, R. (1998) Repression of heat shock transcription factor HSF1 activation by HSP90 (HSP90 complex) that forms a stress-sensitive complex with HSF1. *Cell*,

, 471–480.